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World leaders in wood technology
Accsys Technologies PLC (‘Accsys’ or the ‘Company’) is a UK incorporated 
environmental science and technology company focused on ‘sustainability’ 
via the development and commercialisation of a range of transformational 
technologies based upon the acetylation of solid wood and wood elements 
(wood chips, fibres and particles). 

The primary focus is on the production, sale and licensing of Accoya® solid 
wood and Tricoya® wood elements technology via the Company’s 100% 
owned subsidiaries, Titan Wood Limited, Titan Wood B.V., Titan Wood 
Technology B.V. and Titan Wood Inc. (collectively the ‘Group’). Manufactured 
through the Company’s proprietary acetylation process, these solid and wood 
element products exhibit superior dimensional stability, durability and other 
important benefits compared with alternative natural, treated and modified 
woods as well as more resource intensive man-made materials.  
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Financial overview Contents

June 2012 with Solvay-Rhodia 
(‘Solvay’) for the production 
and sale of Accoya® wood using 
Accsys’ proprietary acetylation 
technology. The conditional 
agreement grants Solvay 
exclusive rights to produce 
and sell Accoya® within certain 
countries in Europe; 

to the market place with first 
sales to customers from our joint 
development partner, Medite, 

opening up a wealth of new 
potential applications; 

in April 2012 with a leading MDF 
and Particle Board manufacturer 
in Latin America which we 
expect to open up significant 
new opportunities; 

relationship agreed with BP in 
March 2012 which includes the 
supply of acetic anhydride and 
the support of further product 
and application developments; 

intellectual property portfolio. 
We are pleased to announce 
this includes the recent grant 
of a product patent for Accoya® 
in the UK, securing monopoly 
rights for Accoya® in the United 
Kingdom for 20 years; 

leaseback of Arnhem land and 
buildings, generating proceeds 
of €2.2m and which will also 
enable future improvements 
to wood handling logistics and 
storage facilities; 

distribution, agency and supply 
agreements signed, making a 
total of 35, covering most of 
Europe, Australia, Canada, Chile, 
China, India, Korea, Lebanon, 
Morocco, New Zealand, parts of 
South-East Asia, U.A.E and the 
USA; and 

to our product line; a popular, 
attractive hardwood species 
which provides superior 
performance, similar to that of 
Accoya® Radiata.

Year ended

Revenue from 
Accoya® wood sales 13,574 12,567 9,136 6,890 2,911

Total Revenue from 
all sources 15,002 13,700 16,723 31,191 27,328

Release of 
impairment/ 
(impairment) of 
licensee balances (2,281) 394 (35,458) – –

(Loss)/Profit
after tax (14,376) (14,404) (52,139) 5,429 4,081

Cash at year-end 24,574 27,576 18,258 17,503 46,239
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Chairman’s statement

INTRODUCTION

The Group has built on the 
changes of the previous year 
and has made steady progress 
towards achieving its long term 
objectives. 

Demand for Accoya® continues 
to increase and while the growth 
in the first half of the year has 
been at a lower rate than we 
previously anticipated, it has 
improved more recently. We 
therefore remain confident that 
the demand for Accoya® will 
reach our current manufacturing 
capacity in the next three years. 
The lower than expected growth 
in the first half of the year is 
attributable to the economic 
climate, in particular experienced 
by the global wood and building 
industries. 

The introduction of Medite® 
Tricoya® to the market place two 
years earlier than previously 
expected, followed by the first 
commercial sales by our Joint 
Development Partner, Medite 
Europe Limited, marks an 
important step in Accsys’ overall 
development by demonstrating 
the global applicability of 
our Tricoya® wood elements 

technology. This has been 
further confirmed by the signing 
of a licence option agreement 
since the year end, with a 
leading MDF and Particle Board 
manufacturer in Latin America 
which we expect to open up new 
opportunities to develop the 
worldwide panel products market 
estimated to be worth €60 billion 
annually. 

We have focussed on our long 
term objective of licensing our 
technology and have created 
and developed opportunities 
in respect of both Accoya® 
and Tricoya®. The recent 
announcement that we have 
entered into a conditional 
licence agreement with Rhodia 
Acetow GmbH, a wholly owned 
subsidiary of Solvay-Rhodia 
(“Solvay”) for the production and 
sale of Accoya® wood reflects 
a significant amount of work 
from Accsys and Solvay and 
represents a commitment to the 
next stage in the  successful 
commercialisation of Accoya®. 
However at the same time, our 
existing licensees Diamond Wood 
and Al Rajhi, have not progressed 
as we had hoped and we have 
recorded a non-cash impairment 

charge in respect of Al Rajhi 
to reflect the uncertainty that 
remains with this contract 
progressing.

Our sales and marketing teams 
have made significant progress 
in establishing the market for 
Accoya®. We have signed eight 
new distribution or agency 
agreements making a total 
of 35 which now covers most 
of Europe, Australia, Canada, 
Chile, India, Korea, Lebanon, 
Morocco, New Zealand, China, 
parts of South-East Asia, U.A.E 
and the USA. We have exhibited 
at trade shows across the 
globe and carried out many 
direct and indirect marketing 
campaigns, typically working 
with our distributors, mutually 
benefiting from the close 
working relationships which have 
developed. 

Our products continue to receive 
major recognition which will 
further help their introduction 
and general acceptance. We 
have won the North American 
Architects magazine R&D award, 
the UK Timber Trade Journal’s 
2011 Market Development award 
and Accoya® won “Technology 
of the Year” at the Sustain 
Magazine Awards. The Accoya® 
Moses Bridge project also won 
the Archdaily.com project of the 
year award.

We have made further 
improvements to our plant in 
Arnhem and to our processes 
which have increased 
productivity and efficiency. 
In addition we have identified 
further opportunities to improve 

our capacity, product uniformity 
as well as production cycle 
time and energy consumption 
in the future. We continue to 
invest in product development 
and have made progress in 
launching Accoya® Alder, a new 
wood species which has been 
acetylated by modifying the 
same underlying technology as 
our existing Accoya® Radiata, 
adding further value to the 
commercial proposition. The 
new product, with similar 
benefits to the existing Accoya® 
is expected to open up new 
market opportunities given its 
different aesthetic properties. 
We continue to develop the 
technology and expect to 
introduce additional species of 
acetylated Accoya® to further 
enhance our product offering.

RESULTS

Total revenue increased by 
10% to €15.0m (2011: €13.7m) 
reflecting continued growth in 
demand and increased prices 
introduced during the first 
half of 2011. I am pleased that 
revenue for the six months 
to 31 March 2012 increased 
by 41% compared to the first 
half of the year. The first six 
months was disappointing, 
reflecting a reduction in sales to 
Diamond Wood and certain other 
customers, notably in Germany, 
who reduced their inventory 
levels in response to economic 
conditions. The licence income in 
both the current and preceding 
year represents fees paid to us 
to secure licence options. 

We have focussed on our long term 
objective of licensing our technology 
and have created and developed 
opportunities in respect of both 
Accoya® and Tricoya®
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While the Group continues to be 
loss making as expected at this 
point of its corporate life, we have 
given significant attention to 
cost control and working capital 
management. Gross operating 
margin improved from a 4% loss 
to a 0.3% loss, resulting from 
improved operating efficiencies 
and the price increases referred 
to above. Other operating costs 
decreased by 9% compared to the 
previous year. 

We have recorded a €2.3m 
net impairment of licensee 
receivables in the year. This 
consists of €2.9m attributable 
to Al Rajhi, representing a non-
cash impairment of licensee 
net receivables (consisting 
of prepaid commission costs 
and deferred income) which 
had been recorded in previous 
years. The impairment has been 
recorded as uncertainty remains 
as to whether the licence will 
proceed. This has been off-set 
by €0.6m reversal of a previously 
recorded impairment booked in 
respect of Diamond Wood. The 
impairment was reversed as a 
result of Diamond Wood paying 
contractually due technology 
fees subsequent to the year-end.

The cash balance at 31 March 
2012 of €24.6m represents a 
net reduction of €3m in the 
year. The net cash out-flow from 

operating activities of €3.7m in 
the year compared to €17.7m in 
the previous year. This reduction 
in out-flow is partly attributable 
to €5.3m reduction in working 
capital which was mainly due 
to active stock management 
following higher than expected 
inventory levels built up at the 
end of the previous financial year. 

We completed the first part of 
the agreed sale and leaseback of 
the Arnhem land and buildings 
which resulted in proceeds of 
€2.2m and the recording of a 
finance lease creditor. The Group 
maintains finance facilities 
secured on our inventory and 
receivables, however these were 
not drawn down at the year-end. 

Paul Clegg and Hans Pauli have 
been in place as the executive 
directors for over two years. 
During this period, they have 
successfully instigated many 
changes to the processes and 
structures in order to ensure the 
Group is now focused on the key 
objective of licensing the Group’s 
technology and generating 
sustainable profits. As a result, 
there have been no changes to the 
senior management team in the 
last year.

As reported last year, Nick 
Meyer joined the board as an 

independent non-executive 
director on 17 May 2011. Having 
significant experience in the 
timber industry including as a 
former President of the Timber 
Trade Federation of the United 
Kingdom, Nick has made a 
valuable contribution to the 
Board in his first year. 

DIVIDEND

No final dividend is proposed in 
respect of 2012. This reflects 
the loss we have reported in the 
last financial year together with 
the Board’s decision to preserve 
as strong a balance sheet 
as possible while the Group 
continues to develop long term 
business opportunities.

PROSPECTS

I am pleased with the progress 
made in what has been a 
challenging year as a result 
of continuing poor economic 
conditions. I am confident that 
with the investment in sales and 
marketing activities, including the 
increased number of distributors, 
that our Accoya® sales revenue 
will increase at a faster rate than 
the reported year.

The introduction of Medite® 
Tricoya® has opened up a number 
of new opportunities in respect 
of research and development 
and business development, all of 
which are particularly exciting 

and provide great potential for 
the Group given the size of the 
global panel products market. 
The signing of a Tricoya® licence 
option agreement for Latin 
America and a licence agreement 
with Solvay for Accoya® are 
exciting steps in the global 
development of both products.

I continue to believe the long 
term value in the Group will be 
best achieved by licensing our 
technology and in this respect I 
am increasingly confident that 
the progress made over the 
last year has put the Group in 
an excellent position to secure 
licence income in the future. 
The increasing Accoya® and 
now Medite® Tricoya® sales will 
further help seed markets and 
we will continue to progress 
the existing and new licence 
opportunities. However I note 
that while some of these 
negotiations are more advanced, 
these remain significant 
decisions and there can be no 
certainty that they will progress. 
As a result we continue to also 
focus on increasing Accoya® 
sales with a view to making the 
Arnhem plant and ultimately 
the Group, profitable without 
requiring licence income. 

Non-executive Chairman

9 July 2012
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Group Overview

Accsys’ operations comprise three principal business units:

  The commercial scale Accoya® wood production facility in the 
Netherlands; 

Technology development; and 

Accoya® and Tricoya® Technology licensing. 

The Company’s technologies and brands are internationally protected 
by patents and trademarks. Many have been technically validated at full 
commercial production level, and others are in pilot-scale or are subject to 
independent validation by experts. 

The Group aims to deliver significant financial and environmental benefits 
through:

Reductions in unit production costs; 

  Lower capital costs enabling commercial production at scales not 
hitherto possible, with additional capacity expected to be generated 
from the expansion of our plant in the Netherlands and the licensing of 
our technologies to other companies; 

  Improvements in environmental outcomes (lower waste output, reduced 
energy consumption and faster cycle times); 

The ability to produce innovative, high-performance products. 



Accoya® used in 41 countries : 35 distribution, agency and  supply agreements 
in place and 9 additional working relationships

Distribution agreement signed covering country
Direct Sales (no distribution agreement)
Indirect Sales
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Other

Italy

Greece

India

Norway

Belgium

Switzerland

China

North America

Germany

UK & Ireland

Netherlands



Accoya® wood is suitable for a wide variety of external 
applications such as windows, doors, decking, cladding 
and structural projects.

Accoya® Cladding was used on the 
development of 64 luxurious private 
apartments at Granville Place.

CANADA
Structural Lighting made from 
Accoya® wood inside airport 
departure lounge. 

Accoya® cladding, louvres and 
trims were used in a new build and 
renovation project in Oslo.

Accoya® coated cladding was used on 
2 Citizen Banks on the east coast of 
America.

Accoya® was used for inspirational 
entrance to shopping centre in 
Istanbul.

ZEALAND
Accoya® wood was used in the 
redevelopment of 40 year old 
bus shelters owned by Auckland 
Transport in preparation for the 2011 
rugby world cup.

Accoya® wood was used for the 
construction of a wooden deck that 
can withstand over 2 metres of rain 
each year in Mumbai.

Black coated Accoya® louvres were 
used in the construction of a private 
residence on Lennox Street in 
Melbourne.
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Case Studies
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Case Studies

Medite® Tricoya® is a joint development between 
Accsys Technologies and Medite Europe, part of Coillte 
Panel Products. This high performance panel product 
is the greatest advancement in the panel products 
manufacturing sector for 30 years. Medite Tricoya excels 
in external and wetted environments. 

NETHERLANDS
Medite Tricoya® used as the 
substrate for ATM dispenser for 
Rabobank, in The Netherlands.

IRELAND
Medite Tricoya® used for signage on 
retail outlet in Ireland.

Crawford Joinery, in the UK used 
Medite Tricoya® to manufacture this 
exterior door.

Brighton and Hove Council trial 
Medite Tricoya® for seafront 
“Cucumber” benches.

Medite Tricoya® used on outdoor 
Land Rover stand at Royal Windsor 
Horse Show.

NETHERLANDS
Coated Medite Tricoya® gate from the 
Netherlands.

NETHERLANDS
Medite Tricoya® used for fascias and 
soffits project in The Netherlands.

IRELAND
Pub front refurbished using Medite 
Tricoya®, Ireland.
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Chief Executive’s review

ACCOYA® AND TRICOYA®

The Group markets its acetylated 
solid wood product under 
the brand name Accoya®. 
Accsys’ proprietary acetylation 
technology modifies sustainably 
grown timber in a non-toxic 
process to create a modified 
wood that matches or exceeds 
the durability, stability and 
beauty of the very best tropical 
hardwoods while remaining 
significantly more sustainable 
than substitute products.

These attributes make Accoya® 
wood a highly effective solution 
for a wide range of external 
applications including doors, 
windows, cladding, decking, 
shutters, louvers, civil works, 
landscaping, outdoor furniture 
and more. 

During the period, Accsys’ joint 
development partner, Medite 
Europe, commenced commercial 
sales of Medite Tricoya Extreme 
Durable MDF. Based upon Accsys’ 
proprietary technology, many 
of the properties and benefits 
which are found in Accoya® are 
also found in Tricoya®, including 
enhanced dimensional stability 
and durability. The Tricoya® 
technology represents a major 
innovation in the wood panel 
industry, and is leading to a new 
generation of wood based panel 
products.

During the year we have 
continued to make significant 

advances towards delivering 
on our strategy of seeding the 
market and developing licensing 
and strategic opportunities as 
well as maintaining a focus on 
working capital management.

This has been reflected by the 
exciting introduction of Medite 
Tricoya® to the market place, 
significantly improved market 
awareness of Accoya® following 
renewed campaigns by our 
marketing team and the progress 
made in the securing of potential 
licensees. This included the 
signing of an option agreement 
for the production of Tricoya® 
and the more recent agreement 
of a conditional licence 
agreement with Solvay for the 
production and sale of Accoya® 
in Europe.

Whilst revenue growth of 10% 
was less than we had hoped 
due to the challenging market 
conditions, the situation 
improved in the second half 
of the year with increased 
interest in Accoya® and Tricoya®. 
Revenue for the second half of 
the year further increased by 
41% compared to the six months 
to 30 September 2011.

We were also delighted 
to announce a strategic 
collaborative relationship with 
BP under which BP will supply 
acetyls products for Accoya®, 
Tricoya® and related technology 
and under which BP would 
provide support in relation to 
Accsys’ current operations. It is 
also proposed that BP will offer 

guidance to Accsys’ potential 
licensees on acetyls related 
matters.

We have continued to focus on 
cost control and working capital 
management throughout the 
year resulting in other operating 
costs down by 9% compared 
to the previous year. Our cash 
balance of €24.6m at 31 March 
2012 is a result of a net cash out-
flow from operating activities of 
€3.7m in the year compared to 
€17.7m in the previous year.

The improvement in gross 
operating margin from a 4% loss 
to a 0.3% loss resulted from 
improved operating efficiencies 
and price increases introduced 
in the first part of 2011. 
Furthermore, it improved from 
a 7% loss in the six months to 
September 2011 to a profit of 5% 
in the second six months of the 
year and we expect profitability 
to continue to improve as our 
sales volumes increase given the 
running of the plant in Arnhem 
involves an element of fixed 
costs.

In June 2012 we entered into 
a licence agreement with 
Solvay for the production 
and sale of Accoya® using 
Accsys’ proprietary acetylation 
technology. The licence provides 
for the conditional grant to 
Solvay of exclusive rights for a 
15 year period to produce and 
sell Accoya® within the Council of 
Europe save for Belgium, Ireland, 

Luxemburg, the Netherlands and 
the United Kingdom in return 
for Solvay paying Accsys licence 
and royalty fees. The agreement 
allows for the construction of 
multiple Accoya® production 
plants, with the first plant 
having an initial capacity of 
approximately 63,000 m³ of 
Accoya® output. 

Both parties have been working 
together extensively in many 
areas. The engineering design 
of the plant has already 
commenced and the completion 
of the basic engineering plan 
has been commissioned. Solvay 
has commissioned a detailed 
market promotion program in 
countries within its territory. 
The agreement is conditional 
on certain limited provisions 
being satisfied, including the 
formal approval of both Accsys 
and Solvay’s board of directors.  
Whilst there can be no certainty 
that such conditions will be 
satisfied, both parties currently 
expect that the agreement 
will become unconditional and 
fully effective in the second 
half of 2013. In the meantime 
Accsys has been commissioned 
to produce a comprehensive 
Process Design Package. 

It is expected that many of 
Accsys’ existing distributors and 
customers in the region will be 
introduced to Solvay and that 
the resulting relationship will 
drive greater market penetration 
of Accoya® by guaranteeing 
larger scale production and 
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the resulting availability and 
competitiveness.

In April 2012 we entered into a 
licence option agreement with a 
leading MDF and Particle Board 
manufacturer in Latin America 
for the production and sale of 
Tricoya® based panels. The 
option is for exclusive production 
and distribution rights for an 
initial volume of approximately 
60,000 metric tonnes of 
Tricoya® per annum, equating to 
around 90,000 m3 of Tricoya® 
branded MDF exclusively for the 
Latin American market (excluding 
Brazil, for which rights are non-
exclusive). During the two-year 
term of the option agreement, 
the option holder will carry 
out an extensive evaluation 
of Tricoya® material, including 
market testing, production 
testing and the development of 
end-products. If this evaluation 
is successful, a full licence 
agreement may be entered into. 
All substantial terms of the 
licence agreement, including 
licence fees, brand rights, and 
mutual obligations of the parties 
have been agreed.

Both of these agreements 
represent very important steps 
forward in Accsys’ main objective 
in licensing the Company’s 
technology. The recent Tricoya® 
licence option agreement 
confirms the significant growth 
potential that the Tricoya® 
technology adds to our existing 
wood modification technology 
platform and is opening up 
new opportunities to further 
penetrate the worldwide panel 
products market estimated to 
be worth more than €60 billion 
annually. 

We have also been developing 
a number of negotiations with 
other potential licensees of both 
Accoya® and Tricoya® and while 
I am pleased with the progress 
being made, it is important to 
note that any negotiations take 
time to complete due to the 
complexity of the technology 
and licence terms involved. 

Progress with our two existing 
licensees, Diamond Wood and 
Al Rajhi, has continued to be 
disappointingly slow. Diamond 
Wood has not yet completed 

its planned fund-raising having 
previously informed us that they 
were in an advanced stage in 
preparing the submission for 
the listing of Diamond Wood 
on the junior market of the 
Malaysian Stock Exchange. 
Subject to regulatory review and 
formal due diligence processes, 
they had hoped to be able 
to undertake an Initial Public 
Offering during the first quarter 
of 2012, however this has not 
yet been completed. We have 
worked with Diamond Wood 
management and re-commenced 
some sales of Accoya® which are 
expected to increase as soon 
as its funding issues have been 
resolved in order to meet the 
continuing demand of customers 
in the China and South-East Asia 
region. During the year we have 
recorded €0.6m reversal of a 
previously recorded impairment 
of licensee receivables as a 
result of contractual licence fees 
received from Diamond Wood 
shortly after the year-end.

Progress with Al Rajhi has also 
been slower than previously 
anticipated. We remain confident 
that in the longer term, the 
licence will progress, however a 
significant degree of uncertainty 
remains over the timing of their 
investment. As a result we 
believe it is prudent to impair 
the €2.9m of net assets which 
Accsys previously recorded in 
respect of this licence. This has 
resulted in a non-cash charge 
being recorded in the income 
statement. 

WOOD

Revenue from the sales of 
Accoya® increased by 8% 
compared to the previous year. 
We previously reported that 
sales in the first half of the year 
were particularly challenging. 
Accoya® revenue for the six 
months to September 2011 was 
15% less than the same period 
in the previous year, largely 
attributable to lower sales to 
Diamond Wood and a number 
of customers, in particular in 
Germany, having reduced their 
inventory levels to reflect the 
slower market conditions. 

We are pleased that results 
in the second half of the year 
improved, with Accoya® revenue 
for the six months to March 2012 
increasing by 46% compared to 
the first six months of the year 
and 33% compared to the same 
period in the previous year. This 
significant increase was partly 
attributable to sales to Medite 
supporting their manufacture 
of Medite Tricoya®. Excluding 
sales to Medite, Accoya® revenue 
increased by 8% in the second 
half of the year compared to the 
first.

The economic conditions, in 
particular those experienced 
in the wider wood products 
and buildings industry have 
continued to result in lower 
demand than previously 
expected. Despite this, we are 
experiencing an increasing 
amount of interest in our 
products and this has been 
reflected in recent orders 
received. 

We have signed four new 
distribution or agency 
agreements since November 
2011, with the new agreements 
covering Czech Republic, Italy, 
Korea and Lebanon and the 
U.A.E. The total of 35 distribution 
or agency agreements now 
covers most of Europe, Australia, 
Canada, Chile, India, Morocco, 
New Zealand, China, parts of 
South-East Asia and the USA. 

We have continued to work 
closely with many of our 
distributors and customers 
and were particularly pleased 
by the introduction of hybrid 
Accoya® and softwood joinery 
components (face laminated) by 
some of our European customers 
as a means of opening additional 
price-levels in the market. We 
are in the process of arranging 
our second annual global sales 
and strategy meeting with our 
distributors to be held in Windsor 
in September following the 
success of the first meeting in 
the year.

We continue to invest in 
developing the Accoya® and 
Tricoya® brands across the globe. 
We have exhibited at many 

trade shows over the last year 
including major events such 
as Timber Expo and Ecobuild 
in the UK, Dubo Nationale in 
the Netherlands, Batimat and 
Carrefour de Bois in France, 
Maderalia in Spain, Fensterbau 
in Germany, Bois et Habitat and 
Project Build in Belguim, By Reiss 
Degg in Norway, Greenbuild 
in Canada and the American 
Institutes of Architects in 
USA. We work closely with our 
distributors and have attended 
many other exhibitions where 
they have taken the lead and 
feature their end-products on 
our stands to help highlight the 
application benefits of Accoya®. 

We have continued to improve 
our websites; adding new 
projects, offering more relevant 
information to users and 
introducing enhanced sections 
of our websites in Dutch, French 
and German, all of which have 
resulted in increased website 
traffic. The Medite Tricoya® 
website was also launched in 
December. Distributors have 
access to their own protected 
“Toolkit” website that provides 
sales and marketing tools, 
including in-depth technical 
information to facilitate their 
efforts. 

Following on from our success 
earlier in the year in winning 
the North American Architects 
magazine R&D award and the 
UK Timber Trade Journal’s 2011 
Market Development award, 
Accoya® won “Technology of the 
Year” at the Sustain Magazine 
Awards. The Accoya® Moses 
Bridge project also won the 
Archdaily.com project of the year 
award.

Our sales and marketing teams 
have carried out many other 
direct marketing activities 
ranging from the introduction 
of Accoya® Performance 
Brochures and Professional 
Accoya® samples boxes, through 
support activities such as on-line 
architectural training courses 
and the Accoya® manufacturer’s 
certification training scheme 
to the continuation of targeted 
e-mail campaigns, direct mailing, 
and trade press advertising. 

Chief Executive’s review continued



We have continued to invest 
in developing our technology 
in order to increase the 
productivity and efficiency of 
our plant and for the potential 
benefit of our licensees. This 
has included research, testing 
and implementation of process 
changes and the installation of 
new equipment which has also 
helped reduce maintenance and 
increase reliability.

Significant work has been 
carried out developing analytical 
methods and mathematical 
models which have further 
increased our knowledge 
of both our processes and 
products which have created 
opportunities to improve our 
capacity, product uniformity as 
well as production cycle time and 
energy consumption. In addition 
we have continued to carry 
out research which will lead to 
improved product quality. 

We were pleased to introduce 
Accoya® Alder to our product 
offering following a period of 
development and testing. Red 
Alder is considered an attractive 
hardwood species which is 
popular for internal joinery and 
door applications. We have been 
able to adapt our proprietary 
technology to produce Accoya® 
Alder which provides superior 
performance, similar to that 
of Accoya® Radiata, including 
in respect to its durability 
class, dimensional stability 
and hardness. We believe this 

adaptation of our technology 
will ultimately add value to 
our commercial proposition. 
European hardwood has also 
been tested and is expected to 
be introduced.

We have continued the research 
and development of other wood 
species which we expect to 
introduce to the market over 
the next two years. These will 
benefit us and our potential 
licensees by increasing the 
number of end-product offerings 
as well as introducing more raw 
material sourcing options. 

We have also carried out 
an extensive structural 
characteristic test programme 
and, in collaboration with 
a leading architectural and 
engineering house, we expect 
to publish an Accoya® Structural 
Design Guide later this summer.

We significantly strengthened 
our intellectual property 
portfolio having successfully 
been granted additional patents 
protecting Accoya® wood. As 
previously announced earlier 
in the financial year, the grant 
of a process patent allows the 
Company to robustly protect the 
process under which Accoya® can 
be manufactured in both South 
Africa and the United Kingdom. In 
June 2012, we were delighted to 
have further added to our patent 
portfolio, receiving confirmation 
from the Intellectual Property 
Office in the United Kingdom of 
the grant of Accoya® product 
patent claims. With this latest 
product patent in place, we have 

successfully managed to secure 
monopoly rights for Accoya® in 
the United Kingdom for 20 years 
from the patent filing date. In 
so doing, we are optimistic as 
to our ability to achieve product 
patents to protect the Accoya® 
brand in other global territories. 
In order to continue to secure 
the intellectual property which 
we are developing, as is the 
normal course of business 
within licensing models, we 
have continued to make further 
patent filings to protect not only 
the process and equipment used 
in the production of Accoya® 
and Tricoya®, but the products 
themselves. 

OUTLOOK

The progress in developing 
Tricoya® during the year has 
marked an important point in the 
Company’s progress. We expect 
that the commercial launch of 
Medite Tricoya® by our Joint 
Development Partner followed 
by the licence option agreement 
for the South American market 
will be the first steps towards 
making Tricoya® the first new 
global, truly innovative panel 
product for many years. 

The agreement with Solvay 
represents another significant 
step in the Company’s 
development, reflecting a 
commitment to the next stage in 
the successful commercialisation 
of Accoya® and its acceptance 
as the globally recognised 
leading high technology, high 
performance, modified wood.

Sales of Accoya® were affected 
by the underlying economic 
climate however strong sales 
growth through the second half 
gives us cause for optimism 
in the new financial year. 
Furthermore, I am confident 
that the progress we have made 
in building the brand, product 
development and increasing the 
distribution network strengthens 
our position to increase sales 
going forward.

I continue to expect that the 
increased sales will result in the 
plant breaking even and the 
Company ultimately generating 
profit, even without taking 
account of any licence income. 
The first stage of the sale 
and leaseback of the Arnhem 
land and buildings, which was 
completed in the year, enables 
us to plan the next stage of 
the expansion of the Arnhem 
plant. However we will only 
progress with the expansion 
when the timing is right, taking 
into account our sales growth 
and success securing licensed 
production capacity.

Paul Clegg
Chief Executive Officer

9 July 2012
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REVENUE
Total manufacturing revenue increased by 10% to €14.9m (2011: 
€13.6m). Within manufacturing revenue, sales from Accoya® wood 
increased by 8% to €13.6m, reflecting increased sales demand at our 
Arnhem facility together with price increases introduced earlier in 
2011. Total Group revenue of €15.0m (2011: €13.7m) was an increase 
of 10%. Revenue from licensing activities was in line with last year at 
€0.1m (2011: €0.1m) and was attributable to fees paid in respect of 
licence option agreements.

Cost of sales has increased by 6% to €15.1m (2011: €14.2m). Gross 
operating margin improved from a 4% loss to a 0.3% loss, resulting 
from improved operating efficiencies and the price increases referred 
to above. The gross operating margin improved from a 7% loss in the 
six months to September 2011 to a profit of 5% in the second six 
months of the year.

€2.3m net impairment of licensee receivables recorded in the year 
compared to a net €0.4m reversal of licensee receivables recorded 
in the prior year. This consists of €2.9m attributable to Al Rajhi, 
representing a non-cash impairment of licensee net receivables 
(consisting of €5.4m prepaid commission costs net of €2.55m 
deferred income) recorded in previous years. The impairment has 
been recorded as uncertainty remains as to whether the licence will 
proceed.

This has been off-set by €0.6m reversal of a previously recorded 
impairment booked in respect of Diamond Wood. The impairment 
was reversed as a result of Diamond Wood paying contractually due 
technology fees subsequent to the year-end. 

The €0.4m reversal of licensee receivables recorded in the prior year 
was attributable to the Diamond Wood paying contractually due 
technology fees subsequent to the year-end. 

Other operating costs decreased by 9% to €12.5m (2011: €13.7m). 
This was attributable to a maintained focus on cost reduction 
together with reduced headcount. Included within other operating 
costs are restructuring costs of €nil (2011: €0.2m) relating to the 
termination payments made to staff. The group has now reduced 
operating costs by 32% and headcount by 25% over the last three 
years. Headcount reduced from 98 at the start of the year to 94 at 31 
March 2012. 

The increase in loss from operations to €14.8m (2011: loss of €13.8m) 
is as a result of a charge recorded in the year for the impairment of 
licence related assets which was not present in the previous year. 
Before impairment charges the loss from operations was €12.5m 
(2011: loss of €14.0m) as a result of improved manufacturing gross 
margin and reduced other operating costs. 

Finance income of €154,000 (2011: €18,000) represents interest 
receivable on bank deposits.

The finance expense of €240,000 (2011: €66,000) is due to the 
equity line of credit (which expired on 31 March 2012) and finance 

lease charges associated with the sale and leaseback of part of the 
Groups land and buildings in Arnhem.

The net tax credit of €536,000 (2011: €553,000 charge) represents 
a tax charge arising from the utilisation of tax losses of €573,000 
offset by research and development tax credits of €1.1m attributable 
to activities carried out in the current and preceding two years. 

DIVIDENDS
No final dividend is proposed in 2012 (2011 final dividend: €Nil). The 
Board deems it prudent for the Company to maintain as strong a 
balance sheet as possible during the current phase of the Company’s 
growth strategy.

Basic and diluted loss per share was €0.04 (2011 basic and diluted 
loss per share was €0.06).

BALANCE SHEET

Property, plant and equipment additions of €1.1m (2011: €1.1m) 
predominantly relate to technology improvements and significant 
items of maintenance equipment at our Arnhem production facility. 
During the period the Group entered into a sale and leaseback 
agreement for part of the Arnhem land and buildings. See note 24. 

Accsys Technologies PLC has previously purchased a total of 
21,666,734 unlisted ordinary shares in Diamond Wood China. The 
historical cost of the unlisted shares held at 31 March 2012 is €10m 
(2011: €10m). However, a provision for the impairment of the entire 
balance of €10m continues to be recorded, as at 31 March 2012 the 
conclusion of Diamond Wood finalising its funding arrangements was 
still pending. In the event Diamond Wood completes the fund-raising, 
the balance may be re-valued. 

INVENTORY
The Group had total inventory balances of €3.1m (2011: €8.4m). 
Finished goods consisting of Accoya® represented €2.1m (2011: 
€4.4m) and raw materials consisting of unprocessed lumber 
represented €0.8m (2011: €4.0m) with the remainder of the balance 
being work in progress. The significant decrease is attributable to 
increased sales in the period being processed from existing stock, 
built up in the prior period due in large to Diamond Wood postponing 
orders, for which raw materials, often for their unique market needs, 
had already been ordered or received.

The Group had cash and bank deposits of €24.6m at the end of the 
period (2011: €27.6m). The decrease in the year is mainly the result 
of €3.7m of cash out-flows from operating activities (including 
€5.3m net decrease in inventory largely resulting from processing 
sales from existing stock as described above), €1.2m outflow from 
investing activities (including €1.1m of capital expenditure) and a 
€0.4m outflow from financing activities. This was offset by an inflow 
of €2.2m relating to the sale and leaseback of part of the Groups land 
and buildings in Arnhem. 

On 2 August 2011, a total of 783,283 of Ordinary shares were issued 
to a trust under the terms the Employee Share Participation Plan 
at €0.11 per share. On 23 January 2012, a total of 130,831 Ordinary 
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shares were issued to a trust under the terms of the Employee 
Share Participation Plan at €0.09 per share. On 31 December 2011, 
2,500,000 shares were released from the Employee Benefit Trust 
to the relevant Executive Directors and Senior Managers following 
the vesting of such shares and payment of the nominal value of the 
shares by the individuals. 

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Trade and other receivables have decreased to €3.6m (2011: €9.6m) 
primarily as the result of the impairment of €5.4m of prepaid licence 
commission costs attributable to the Al Rahji licence contract 
together with increased focus upon reducing the collection period of 
trade receivables. 

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Trade and other payables have decreased to €3.3m (2011: €6.3m) 
primarily as a result of the release of €2.6m of deferred income 
attributable to the Al Rahji licence agreement, as described above 
together with reduced expenditure in respect of other operating 
expenses. 

During the period the Group entered into a sale and leaseback 
agreement for part of the Arnhem land and buildings. The first 
phase has been completed resulting in proceeds of €2.2m with a 
further €1.8m to be received. At 31 March 2012 there are €0.3m 
of obligations under finance leases due within 1 year, €0.8m due 
between 2 and 5 years and €1.1m due after 5 years. 

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
Details of the issued share capital, together with the details of the 
movements in the Company’s issued share capital in the year are 
included in note 22. The Company has one class of ordinary shares 
which carry no right to fixed income. Each share carries the right to 
one vote at general meetings of the Company.

There are no specific restrictions on the size of a holding nor on the 
transfer of shares, which are both governed by the general provisions 
of the Articles of Association and prevailing legislation. The Directors 
are not aware of any agreements between holders of the Company’s 
shares that may result in restrictions on the transfer of securities or 
on voting rights. 

Details of employee share schemes are set out in Note 13. No person 
has any special rights of control over the Company’s share capital and 
all issued shares are fully paid. 

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The net assets as at 31 March 2012 of €61m contain balances in 
relation to the Group’s goodwill and intellectual property rights 
of €7.6m. The recoverability of these balances is dependent upon 
the Group’s existing licensees progressing with the completion of 
their manufacturing facilities or the signing of other new licence 
agreements. While the scope and timing of the production facilities 
to be built by the Group’s existing licensees remains uncertain, in 
particular as Diamond Wood has not yet completed its planned fund 
raising, the Directors continue to remain confident that revenue 
from either existing licensees or new licensees will be generated, 
demonstrating the recoverability of these balances. 

In addition, the carrying value of the €25.6m of property, plant and 
equipment, which primarily relate to the Arnhem plant, are largely 
dependent upon the future profitable sales of Accoya® wood made 
there. The price of the Accoya® wood and the raw materials and 
other inputs vary according to market conditions outside of our 

control. Should the price of the raw materials increase by more than 
the sales price or in a way which no longer makes Accoya® wood 
as competitive, then the carrying value of the property, plant and 
equipment may be in doubt and become impaired. The Directors are 
comfortable that the current market, best estimates of future prices 
and increasing supply alternatives means that this risk is limited.

The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis, which 
assumes that the Group will continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future, which is deemed to be at least 12 months from 
the date these financial statements are approved. 

As part of the Group’s going concern review, the Directors have 
reviewed the Group’s trading forecasts and working capital 
requirements for the foreseeable future. These forecasts indicate 
that, in order to continue as a going concern, the Group is dependent 
on the achievement of certain operating performance measures 
relating to the production and sales of Accoya® wood from the plant 
in Arnhem and the collection of on-going working capital items in 
line with internally agreed budgets. No assumptions have been made 
concerning the collection of licence income from existing or new 
licensees. 

The Directors have considered the internally agreed budgets and 
performance measures and believe that appropriate controls and 
procedures are in place or will be in place to make sure that these 
are met.  The Directors believe, while some uncertainty inherently 
remains in achieving the budget, in particular in relation to market 
conditions outside of the Group’s control, that there are a sufficient 
number of alternative actions and measures that can be taken in 
order to achieve the Group’s medium and long term objectives. 

Therefore, the Directors believe that the going concern basis is the 
most appropriate on which to prepare the financial statements. 

Hans Pauli
Chief Financial Officer

9 July 2012
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The Directors present their report together with the audited 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2012. 

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year is 
set out on page 34, and shows the loss for the year. 

The Directors do not recommend the proposal of a final dividend in 
respect of the current year, consistent with the prior year. 

The principal activity of the Group is the production, sale of Accoya® 
solid wood and licensing of technology for the production and 
sale of Accoya® wood and Tricoya® wood elements. Manufactured 
through the Group’s proprietary acetylation process, these products 
exhibit superior dimensional stability and durability compared with 
alternative natural, treated and modified woods as well as more 
resource intensive man-made materials. The Group is also engaged 
in the development of other related process technologies with 
potential applications in the wood and chemicals industries. A review 
of the business is set out in the Chairman’s statement and the Chief 
Executive’s report on pages 2 to 11.

Details of the use of financial instruments by the Company and 
its subsidiary undertakings are set out in Note 25 of the financial 
statements. 

SHARE ISSUES
On 2 August 2011, a total of 783,283 of Ordinary shares were issued 
to a trust under the terms of a newly established Employee Share 
Participation Plan. (See note 13). 

On 23 January 2012, a total of 130,831 Ordinary shares were issued 
to a trust under the terms of the Employee Share Participation Plan. 

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The business, financial condition or results of operations of the 
Group could be adversely affected by any of the risks set out below. 
The Group’s systems of control and protection are designed to help 
manage and control risks to an appropriate level rather than to 
eliminate them. 

The Directors consider that the principal risks to achieving the Group’s 
objectives are those set out below. 

(a) Economic and market conditions 

  The Group’s operations comprise the manufacture of Accoya® 
wood and licensing the technology to manufacture Accoya® and 
Tricoya® wood elements to third parties. The cost and availability 
of key inputs affects the profitability of the Group’s own 
manufacturing whilst also impacting the potential profitability of 
third parties interested in licensing the Group’s technology. The 
price of key inputs and security of supply are managed by the 
Group, partly through the development of long term contractual 
supply agreements. 

  In the current economic climate, the potential to enter into 
additional licence agreements may be lower than originally 
anticipated. 

  An element of the Group’s strategy for growth envisages 
the Group selling new or existing products and services into 
other countries or into new markets. However, there can be no 
assurance that the Group will successfully execute this strategy 
for growth. The development of a mass market for a new 

product or process is affected by many factors, many of which 
are beyond the control of the Group, including the emergence 
of newer and more competitive products or processes and the 
future price of raw materials. If a mass market fails to develop 
or develops more slowly than anticipated, the Group may fail to 
achieve profitability.

  The Group has Intellectual Property Rights and Goodwill 
amounting to €7.6m. The carrying values of these assets are 
dependent on new or existing licensees building their production 
plants and executing their business plans. See the Financial 
Review for more details.

(b) Regulatory, legislative and reputational risks 

  The Group’s operations are subject to extensive regulatory 
requirements, particularly in relation to its manufacturing 
operations and employment policies. Changes in laws and 
regulations and their enforcement may adversely impact the 
Group’s operations in terms of costs, changes to business 
practices and restrictions on activities which could damage the 
Group’s reputation and brand. 

(c) Employees

  The Group’s success depends on its ability to continue to attract, 
motivate and retain highly qualified employees. The highly 
qualified employees required by the Group in various capacities 
are sometimes in short supply in the labour market.

(d) Intellectual property

  The Group’s strategy of licensing technology depends upon 
maintaining effective protection of its intellectual properties 
worldwide. Protection is afforded by a combination of 
trademarks, patents, secrecy, confidentiality agreements and 
the structuring of legal contracts relating to key engineering 
and supply arrangements. Unauthorised use of the Group’s 
intellectual property may adversely impact its ability to licence 
the technology and lead to additional expenditure to enforce 
legal rights. The wide geographical spread of our products 
increases this risk due to the increasingly varied and complex 
laws and regulations in which we seek to protect the Group’s 
intellectual property.

The Directors consider the following to be key performance indicators 
by which progress in the development of the business may be 
assessed:

Sales values of Accoya® wood and the geographic spread of 
these sales;

Annual nameplate capacity of the Accoya® wood production 
facility in Arnhem - see the Chief Executive’s report for more 
information;

The volume in m3 of licensee’s production facilities in use. There 
are currently no licensee production facilities in use;

Process improvements to reduce progressively the direct cost 
per m3 to produce Accoya® wood, optimising the utilisation 
of direct materials, utilities and capacity utilised in the wood 
modification process; and

Break-even of the Arnhem plant.

14

Accsys Technologies PLC Annual Report and Financial Statements – Year ended 31 March 2012   |  Directors Report

Directors Report
for the year ended 31 March 2012



The Directors’ priorities for the Group’s future development include:

Creating a worldwide user community – building a global network 
to sell, support, provide feedback and licence our products;

Product excellence – perfecting our engineering process to 
increase efficiencies, maximise product quality and demonstrate 
the operating platform to future potential licensees;

Protecting our knowledge – developing and promoting the 
Accoya® Technology Centre;

Building the Accoya® and Tricoya® brands – marketing the many 
superior benefits of Accoya® and Tricoya® internationally; and

Being first and maintaining leadership – continual development 
of new species testing and creation of new products.

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of 
signing the financial statements were:

Paul Clegg 
Hans  Pauli 
Gordon Campbell
The Rt. Hon. Lord Sanderson of Bowden, Kb, D.L. 
Patrick Shanley
Nick Meyer appointed 17 May 2011

The Directors’ interests in the Ordinary shares at the year-end were as follows:

Legal holdings Beneficial interests

Gordon Campbell 173,333 –

Paul Clegg1 341,110 750,000

Hans Pauli 200,000 500,000

Lord Sanderson 15,761 –

Patrick Shanley 166,666 –

Montague John “Nick” Meyer – –

1           Beneficial interests at 31 March 2012 include 333,500 shares held directly or indirectly by other members of Paul Clegg’s immediate family.

The Company maintains directors’ and officers’ liability insurance 
which gives appropriate cover for legal action brought against its 
Directors. 

CHARITABLE DONATIONS
Charitable donations of €nil (2011: €2,000) were made during the 
year. 

The Group operates an equal opportunities policy from recruitment 
and selection, through training and development, appraisal and 
promotion to retirement. It is our policy to promote an environment 
free from discrimination, harassment and victimisation, where 
everyone will receive equal treatment regardless of gender, colour, 
ethnic or national origin, disability, age, marital status or sexual 
orientation. All decisions relating to employment practises will be 
objective, free from bias and based solely upon work criteria and 
individual merit. 

Group companies have a responsibility to ensure that all reasonable 
precautions are taken to provide and maintain working conditions 

for employees and visitors alike, which are safe, healthy and in 
compliance with statutory requirements and appropriate codes of 
practice. 

The avoidance of occupational accidents and illnesses is given a high 
priority. Detailed policies and procedures are in place to minimise 
risks and ensure appropriate action is understood in the event of 
an incident. A dedicated health and safety officer is retained at the 
Group’s manufacturing facility. 

The Group’s policy, in relation to all of its suppliers, is to negotiate 
terms of payment when agreeing the terms of transactions, to ensure 
that those suppliers are made aware of the terms of payment and 
to abide by those terms provided that it is satisfied that the supplier 
has provided the goods or services in accordance with the agreed 
terms and conditions. The Group does not follow any universal code or 
standard on payment practice but subsidiary companies are expected 
to establish and adhere to payment terms consistent with local 
procedures, custom and practice. For the year ended 31 March 2012, 
the average payment period for trade creditors for the Group was 
26 days (2011: 29 days) and for the Company was 90 days (2011: 90 
days). 
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So far as the Company is aware (further to formal notification), the 
following shareholders held legal or beneficial interests in ordinary 
shares of the Company exceeding 3% as at 31 March 2012:

Royal Bank of Canada 5.73%
OP-Pohjola Group Central Cooperative 5.55%
The London & Amsterdam Trust Company Limited 5.13%
FIL Limited (formerly known as Fidelity International 
Limited) 4.93%
Invesco Limited 4.87%
Legal & General Group Plc (L&G) 4.22%
Saad Investments Company Limited 3.92%
Zurab Lysov 3.71%
Ignis Investment Services Limited 3.15%

There are no restrictions in respect of voting rights. 

The Directors have formed a judgement, at the time of approving the 
financial statements, that there is a reasonable expectation that the 
Group has access to adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future. Further details are set out in 
Note 1 to these financial statements. 

Each of the persons who is a Director at the date of the approval of 
the Annual Report confirms that: 

So far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit 
information of which the Company’s Auditors are unaware; and 

The Director has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken 
as a Director in order to make himself aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the Company’s Auditors are 
aware of that information. 

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance 
with the provisions of s418 of the Companies Act 2006. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP have expressed their willingness to 
continue in office as auditors and a resolution to re-appoint them will 
be proposed at the annual general meeting. 

The Directors confirm to the best of their knowledge: 

The Group financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(‘IFRSs’) as adopted by the European Union and Article 4 of 
the IAS Regulation and give a true and fair view of the assets, 
liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Group. 

The annual report includes a fair review of the development and 
performance of the business and the financial position of the 
Group and the parent Company, together with a description of 
the principal risks and uncertainties that they face. 

By order of the Board 

Angus Dodwell 
Company Secretary 

9 July 2012 
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INTRODUCTION
The purpose of this Remuneration Report (the ‘Report’) is to explain 
the remuneration of the Directors of the Company. The Report covers 
the period ended 31 March 2012.

The Report does not necessarily meet the relevant requirements of 
the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority nor describes 
how the Board has applied the principles relating to directors’ 
remuneration in the 2010 UK Corporate Governance Code. As required 
by the Companies Act 2006, a resolution to approve the Report will 
be proposed at the Annual General Meeting of the Company at which 
the financial statements will be adopted.

The Act requires the auditors to report to the Company’s members 
on certain parts of the Report for each relevant year and to state 
whether in their opinion those parts of the Report have been properly 
prepared in accordance with the Accounting Regulations. The Report 
has therefore been divided into separate sections for audited and 
unaudited information.

The Company established a Nominations & Remuneration Committee 
on 14 November 2005. The terms of reference of the Committee are 
available at the Company’s registered office.

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Committee consisted of 
Lord Sanderson (Chairman), Gordon Campbell, Patrick Shanley and 
following his appointment to the Board of Directors on 17 May 2011, 
Nick Meyer. Patrick Shanley, Lord Sanderson, Nick Meyer and Gordon 
Campbell are independent non-executive directors. Nick Meyer 
assumed the role of Chairman of the Committee on 24 April 2012.

The Committee’s role is to consider and approve the nomination 
of directors and the remuneration and benefits of the executive 
Directors, including the award of share options. In framing the 
Company’s remuneration policy, the Nominations & Remuneration 
Committee has given full consideration to Section D of The UK 
Corporate Governance Code.

The remuneration policy has been designed to attract, retain and 
motivate executive directors of the calibre required to deliver the 
business strategy. Individual remuneration packages are structured 
to align rewards with the performance of the Company and the 
interests of shareholders. No director is involved in setting his own 
remuneration. The main principles are to:

Ensure that salaries are set at a market competitive level by 
benchmarking against appropriate external comparators;

Support high performance culture by rewarding upper quartile 
performance with upper quartile reward;

Maintain an appropriate balance of fixed and performance 
related pay;

Align long term rewards with shareholders; and

Ensure that the overall package reflects market practice and 
takes account levels of remuneration elsewhere in the Group.

SHARE OPTIONS
During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Company issued share 
options which involved performance criteria which can be evaluated 
against the general market the purpose of which was to enable them 
to be able to benefit from any increase in the market capitalisation of 
the Company.

The performance criteria that should be met requires the Company’s 
share price to outperform the FTSE Small Cap index over a period 
of three years. Thereafter the option may be exercised for the rest 
of its ten-year life without further test. The performance criteria, 
which apply to all executive directors to whom options have been 
granted since November 2009, were chosen because they provide a 
broad based measure on which to compare the performance of the 
Company.

Throughout the period and subsequently, the Committee has 
responsibility for supervising the scheme and the grant of the options 
under the scheme.

The following graph shows the Company’s performance for the past 
five years on the London Stock Exchange AIM compared with the 
performance of the FTSE AIM All Share index. Shares were admitted 
to trading on Euronext Amsterdam on 18 September 2007. The FTSE 
AIM All Share index has been selected for this comparison as it is a 
broad based index which the Directors believe most closely reflects 
the performance of companies with similar characteristics as the 
Company’s.
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It is the Company’s policy that executive directors should have 
contracts with an indefinite term providing for a maximum of one 
year’s notice.

Directors’ contracts for year ended 31 March 2012: 

Contractual
Contract Notice termination

Director date period1 payment

Paul Clegg 2 September 2009 12 months 12 months

Hans Pauli 1 March 2010 3 months 3 months

Lord Sanderson 18 June 2008 1 month 1 month

Gordon 
Campbell 18 November 2010 3 months 3 months

Patrick Shanley 18 November 2011 3 months 3 months

Montague John 
“Nick” Meyer2 17 May 2011 3 months 3 months

1  Notice period set out above applies to both the Company and the Director. 

2  Nick Meyer was appointed on 17 May 2011. 

In the event of early termination, the Directors’ contracts provide for 
compensation up to a maximum of basic salary for the notice period. 

2012 2011
€’000 €’000

Directors’ remuneration consists 
of:

Directors’ emoluments 800 682

Compensation for loss of office - 109

Company contributions to 
money purchase pension 
schemes 40 40

840 831

Directors’ emoluments for the year ended 31 March 2012: 

2012 2011
Fees/
Basic

Salary
Share

bonus2 Pension
Benefits

in kind
Loss of

office

Gains on
Exercise of

Options Total Total
€’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Paul Clegg 278 75 28 19 – – 400 282

Hans Pauli 190 50 12 18 – – 270 208

Gordon 
Campbell 77 – – – – – 77 58

Patrick 
Shanley 35 – – – – – 35 13

Montague 
John “Nick” 
Meyer1 23 – – – – – 23 –

Russell
Sanderson 35 – – – – – 35 35

Willy
Paterson 
Brown – – – – – – – 220

Kevin Wood – – – – – – – 15

638 125 40 37 – – 840 831

1  Nick Meyer was appointed on 17 May 2011. 

2 Gain attributable to shares awarded under Employment Benefit Trust (see note 13). 

The above table has been audited. 

Pension entitlements relate to Company contributions to personal pension schemes. The Company does not operate any defined benefit 
pension scheme.
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Directors’ share options for the year ended 31 March 2012: 

At Lapsed
during year during year

Paul Clegg

Unvested at €0.35 2,557,424 – – 2,557,424

Unvested at €0.24 3,057,676 – – 3,057,676

Unvested at €0.10 – 4,237,982 – 4,237,982

Total

Hans Pauli

Unvested at €0.32 1,017,354 – – 1,017,354

Unvested at €0.17 – 718,173 – 718,173

Total

Total

The above table has been audited. 

There have been no variations to the terms and conditions or performance criteria for share options during the financial year.

Options granted to Paul Clegg and Hans Pauli are subject to performance criteria based upon Total Shareholder Return compared to the FTSE 
Small Cap index.

The market price of the ordinary shares at 31 March 2012 was €0.19 and the range during the preceding year was €0.08 to €0.19. 

On 22 February 2011, in connection with employee remuneration and 
incentivisation arrangements for the period from 31 March 2010 to 
31 December 2010, 2,500,000 new Ordinary shares were issued to 
an Employee Benefit Trust, the beneficiaries of which included the 
Executive Directors as follows:

Ordinary Shares

Paul Clegg 750,000

Hans Pauli 500,000

Such new Ordinary Shares were to vest if the Directors remained 
in employment with the Company to the vesting date, being 31 
December 2011 (subject to certain other provisions including good-
leaver, take-over and nomination and remuneration committee 
discretion provisions).

On 31 December 2011, both of the Executive Directors continued to 
be employed by the Company and as a result the shares vested and 
subsequently transferred to the individuals following the payment of 
the nominal value of the shares by the individuals.

In their audit opinion on page 33, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP refer 
to their audit of the disclosures required by the Companies Act 2006. 
These comprise the following disclosures in this Report: 

The table on page 18 showing total emoluments received by 
Directors during the year ended 31 March 2012; 

The table on page 18 showing total pension contributions made 
on behalf of the Directors during the year to 31 March 2012; and 

The share options table for the year ended 31 March 2012 on 
page 19. 

Further details of the share option awards are set out in Note 13 of 
the financial statements. 

APPROVAL
This Report was approved by the Board of Directors on 9 July 2012 
and signed on its behalf by: 

Angus Dodwell 
Company Secretary 

9 July 2012 
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Accsys Technologies is an environmental science and 
technology company, focused on the licensing and 
production of sustainable high performance wood 
products. A focus on corporate and social responsibility 
lies at the very core of our business. Our technologies 
not only enable us to manufacture wood products that 
offer ‘best in class’ durability, dimensional stability and a 
wide spectrum of other performance and environmental 
advantages over alternative environmentally threatened 
or compromised products, but also provide attractive 
opportunities for our employees, distributors, licensees 
and other stakeholders. We want to ensure that our 
business is not only a commercial success, but also run 
in a responsible fashion as we continue to advance 
technologies for a better world.

Sustainability
Our Corporate Vision
Advanced Technologies 
for a Better World
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Problem

As a result of increasing global population and consumption our 
planet is overexploited resulting in depletion of resources, mass 
deforestation of tropical forests, a huge waste problem, toxic 
emissions and global warming. Against this backdrop it seems 
unimaginable to continue consuming endangered materials like 
tropical hardwood and non renewable, high impact, carbon intensive 
building materials such as plastics, concrete and metals at such an 
alarming rate. 

Solution

However, there is a way to help. Imagine using an innovative green 
building product, made from abundantly available, typically fast 
growing, sustainably sourced renewable resources, yet with durability 
and dimensionally stability that exceeds the best performing tropical 
hardwoods. Imagine a natural building material that has the low 
maintenance and consistent quality of the highest performing non-
sustainable man-made materials. Imagine a revolutionary material 
that benefits from all positive attributes of wood (sustainability, 
strength, beauty) without the typical downfalls (poor durability 
and stability), while taking full advantage of the complete resource, 
including low quality and waste material. Imagine wood without 
compromise. Imagine no more: Accoya® wood and Tricoya® panels are 
the most environmentally friendly building solutions over their full life 
cycle of production, use and final retirement – from cradle to cradle.

Accoya® and Tricoya®:

from Cradle to Cradle
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Problem

Our current consumption pattern shows a strong addiction to non 
renewable materials and resources while deforestation of tropical 
rainforests still continues at an alarming rate. Besides the ugly 
landscape of degraded land through mining and deforestation, this 
also results in extra releases of greenhouse gases further enhancing 
the global warming problem. 

Production phase

Responsible 
Production

Accsys Technologies is committed 
to maintaining a healthy and 
safe environment for all its group 
employees, licensees, business 
partners, customers and the 
communities in which we operate. 
Our plant in Arnhem, the Netherlands, 
uses acetic anhydride in the 
production of Accoya® wood and 
generates acetic acid as a by-product 
of acetylation, which is sold for reuse 
in a wide range of industries.

The plant is subject to regular 
inspections, certifications and quality 
assurance undertaken by Accsys’ 
staff and accredited certification 
bodies. Accsys has established 
operational procedures to minimize 
production safety and environmental 
risks. The plant complies with all 
requirements of the strict Federal 
Dutch Environmental Management 
Law (“Wet Milieubeheer”), has an 
official environmental permit and 
meets the strict manufacturing 
criteria of Cradle to Cradle 
certification, on the elusive 
Gold level. 
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Solution

A natural solution for the problem of landscape deterioration and 
global warming is actually already available but often overlooked: 
wood from well managed sources. The forests we appreciate for 
their beauty and function as natural ecological habitat, are actually 
an important carbon sink by filtering CO2 out of the air and absorbing 
this in the biomass of the tree (see box carbon sequestration for 
more information). 

Although there are many misconceptions about this issue, for the 
sake of climate protection, actually the best thing to do is to preserve 
the forest through responsible management, while harvesting as 
much wood as sustainable for production of durable products such as 
furniture or construction products, which will act as additional carbon 
stores while providing the forest the opportunity to regenerate and 
produce new biomass. As wood is a renewable resource, this is a very 
effective way to absorb carbon in the forest as well as in durable 
products. In fact, while in the tropical regions deforestation is still 
continuing, in temperate regions such as in Europe and North America 
the net forest area has been increasing steadily for several decades. 

To produce Accoya® and Tricoya®, only abundantly available, typically 
fast growing wood species such as Radiata Pine (see box) are being 
used from certified, sustainably managed forests and plantations, 
including FSC, PEFC and other regionally certified woods. 

To maximise resource efficiency from the forest, logs are used to 
produce Accoya®, while the smaller stems and branches are used as 
input material for production of Tricoya®. Furthermore, waste wood 
from construction projects can earn a high quality second life as input 
material for Tricoya®, thus further increasing the carbon sink effect. 

Fast growing softwood species such 
as Radiata Pine are primarily used to 
produce Accoya®. The use of wood 
species that produce larger volumes 
of wood over the same time span for 
the same area of land offers obvious 
environmental advantages. 

Radiata Pine even outperforms giant 
bamboo – known to grow incredibly 
fast – in terms of annual yield. This 
means that there is an ample supply 
of timber from certified sources for 
the production of Accoya® wood to 
replace scarcely available certified 
tropical hardwood in demanding 
exterior applications.

RADIATA PINE
28 m3

WESTERN
RED CEDAR

15 m3

11 m3

TEAK
6 m3

OAK
5 m3
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Problem

Although from a resource and carbon sequestration perspective wood 
seems like the ideal material, there is an important reason why it has 
not been adopted as the main builiding material in modern markets: 
mediocre performance in use (poor durability and dimensional 
stability leading to short lifespans and frequent maintenance).

Although tropical hardwoods represent some of the best performing 
and most beautiful woods available, there is simply not enough to 
sustainably harvest anymore without further depletion of tropical 
rainforest with catastrophical consequences. Man-made materials 
based on metals, plastics and concrete, but also chemical wood 
preservation with toxic substances, solved some durability issues 
associated with the use of most woods, but the environmental 
damage in the production and waste phase are no longer tolerable 
(landscape deterioration, depletion, toxic waste). 

Use phase

Long Life

Source        Building with wood = The active form of climate protection (2011) Center of Life and Food 
Sciences WeihenstephanTechnische Universität München

Through the photosynthesis process trees absorb CO2 and solar energy in their 
creation of wood, while releasing oxygen in return. Depending on the density 
of the wood (the denser, the more carbon is stored), 1m3 of wood may store 
over 1 ton of CO2 for its lifetime (see also box “carbon footprint”). 

CO

CO

6 CO2 +

12 H2O

C6H12O6 +

6 O2 + 6 H2O
energy

2

N, P, K, Mg, Ca

3 of wood = 
9,500 MJ stored 
solar energy 
(absolutely dry)
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“Houses using man-made materials such as metals, plastics and concrete can 
cause environmental damage and fall into disrepair quicker”.
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Solution

Through acetylation, a tried and tested and non-toxic wood 
modification process commercialised by Accsys, the downsides of 
wood – such as the poor durability, low dimensional stability and 
susceptibility to UV degradation are overcome. Due to these improved 
properties, Accoya® wood and Tricoya® panels provide several 
environmental gains during the use phase. 

First of all, the durability of Accoya® and Tricoya® is Class 1 (EN 
350) the highest durability class possible, and both materials have 
several quality certifications (KOMO, RAL, BBA, WDMA, etc.) and are 
guaranteed to last 50 years above ground and 25 years in direct 
soil contact. This facilitates a longer lifespan which enables lower 
material consumption (less replacement!) over the same period 
compared to most other materials. This also means that Accoya® and 
Tricoya® have carbon sequestration advantages as they lock CO2 for 
a longer time from the atmosphere (see also box “carbon footprint”), 
therefore building with Accoya® and Tricoya® can be perceived as 
“active climate protection”.

Secondly, the superior dimensional stability of Accoya® and Tricoya® 
means they require less frequent coatings maintenance with the 
subsequent environmental benefit (and lower costs as well). If 
left uncoated, durable species degrade aesthetically rather than 
physically, showing a ‘greying’ of the surface. Leaving the wood 
uncoated is acceptable for some applications but coating is still a 
fundamental requirement for many applications, such as windows and 
doors, no matter how durable the wood, and thus coatings life is a 
major factor in their overall performance. 

Finally, compared to other durable wood species, Accoya® and 
Tricoya® offer superior thermal insulation, which yields energy 
conservation advantages in applications such as window frames. 

ACCOYA® PVC TROPICAL
HARDWOOD

(unsustainably sourced)

cycle of a product / material can be measured, numbers provided in kg CO2

equivalent

(red meranti) 35 years, PVC 35 years, aluminium 50 years

guidelines (www.bsigroup.com)

assessment and can be perceived as an additional environmental credential 
for slow growing, limited available certified tropical hardwood, but especially 
for Accoya® based on fast growing certified sources

Source        Muss, H., Purse, L. (2009). Greenhouse Gas Emissions Assessment for Accoya® Wood. 
Camco Global, Sheffield, United Kingdom. Publicly available through 
www.accoya.com/sustainability/review-recognition

“Accoya® wood and Tricoya® panels provide several environmental gains during 
the use phase due to the improved properties”.
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Problem

Man-made materials as well as wood treated with toxic chemicals 
pose serious problems in the end of life phase; whereas wood is 
biodegradable, these materials often end up in landfills and pollute 
the soil and surroundings. Furthermore, due to overconsumption of 
fossil fuels such as coal, oil, gas – causing global warming – means 
that reserves of fossil fuels are quickly depleting, showing the urgent 
need to focus on energy based on renewable sources such as sun, 
hydro, wind and biomass. 

End of life phase

100%
Recyclable
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Solution

In the end of life phase Accoya® and Tricoya® provide no limits. 
Accoya® is modified via a non-toxic process and is therefore fully 
biodegradable. As a result, Accoya® can be handled in the same 
manner as untreated natural wood at the end of its life. It comes as 
no surprise that Accoya® fits perfectly in the biological cycle of the 
Cradle to Cradle design philosophy and has thus been awarded the 
Gold certification.

Following the “preferential sequence for waste management” (Dutch: 
“Ladder van Lansink”, see box) issued by the Dutch government in 
the National Waste Management Plan, for more efficient use of our 
limited resources, and optimum carbon sequestration effect, we 
recommend that Accoya® and Tricoya® is re-used in applications 
with the same or even higher added value (up-cycling). We therefore 
particularly recommend design of products / projects with ease of 
disassembly and re-use as a consideration. 

If this is not possible there is no problem at all. As wood products are 
in essence stored solar energy (see box carbon sequestration), they 
can always be used for green clean energy production (releasing only 
the CO2 absorbed during growth) thus saving emissions caused by 
burning oil, gas or coal, including the ecosystem deterioration that 
use of these fossil fuels causes. The renowned German research 
institute Wilhelm-Klauditz-Istitut (WKI) has confirmed that Accoya® 
wood may be incinerated for energy production in the same manner 
as untreated wood and that no additional toxic substances will be 
released upon incineration. 

We recommend that users of 
Accoya® wood and Tricoya® adopt 
the “preferential sequence for 
waste management” (Dutch: “Ladder 
van Lansink”) issued by the Dutch 
government in the National Waste 
Management Plan. 

This model largely follows the 
guidelines of the Cradle to CradleCM

philosophy developed by William 
McDonough and Michael Braungart 
to close biological and technological 
cycles as much as possible and re-use 
materials in applications with the 
same or even higher added value 
(up-cycling). The model consists 
of the following possible waste 

management scenarios in which 
prevention is the preferred option 
and dumping the least: 

1. Prevention (avoid waste) 
2.  Prevention (design products that 

integrate waste avoidance and 
useful application during the end 
of life) 

3.  Useful application through product 
re-use

4.  Useful application through 
material re-use

5.  Useful application through energy 
production (incineration)

6. Remove: Burn
7. Remove: Dumping / Composting
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Many companies in the building 
materials industry, including heavily 
polluting industries, nowadays claim 
to be green without backing up 
these claims, known as ‘green 
washing’. At Accsys we value 
transparency; we do not only talk 
the talk, but also walk the walk.

Find more details on www.accoya.com 
and www.tricoya.com

The environmental performance of Accoya®* is thoroughly 
tested and published following uncompromising leading independant 
international methodologies such as Life Cycle Analysis (ISO 
14040/44) and Environmental Product Declarations (ISO 14025). 
The results from these studies underline our vision to advance 
technologies for a better world. For example, official carbon footprint 
studies show that Accoya® wood is an environmentally compatible 
substitute for carbon intensive materials such as plastics, metals 
and concrete, as well as for various wood species (see box “carbon 
footprint”).

Furthermore, we actively seek to acquire the most respected 
ecolabels available (see above) and have been recognised as an 
exemplary product and company in the field of sustainability on many 
occasions. This shows that our promise posed in the introduction of 
our products is not just imagination, it has become reality. Accoya® 
and Tricoya® offer the best performing and greenest building solution 
available, measured over the full life cycle, from cradle to cradle: 

Wood without compromise

Accoya® wood is one of the very few 
building products to have acquired 
Cradle to CradleSM Certification 
on the elusive Gold level. Cradle 
to Cradle (C2C) provides a means 
to tangibly and credibly measure 
achievement in environmentally-
intelligent design including the use 
of environmentally safe and healthy 
materials and instituting strategies 
for social responsibility.

Of the various schemes for 
sustainable forestry available, the 
Forest Stewardship Council (FSC) and 
the Programme for the Endorsement 
of Forest Certification (PEFC) are 
regarded as the leading and most 
comprehensive certification programs 
available. Both programs not only 
focus on benign environmental 
performance but also safeguard 
social interests for all stakeholders 
involved. Accoya® and Tricoya® are 
available in both FSC and PEFC. 

The Future Build is a green 
building materials portal that 
helps architects, engineers and 
contractors confidently select and 
source environmentally sustainable, 
third party certified products. Only 
products that have been assessed 
and selected according to stringent 
standards and criteria set by the 
carbon neutral Masdar City, Abu 
Dhabi, are listed. Accoya® wood was 
rated as excellent or A.

Proven Green
Performance

Ecolabels 
acquired

For the South East Asian market we 
have attained the highly regarded 
Green Label of the Singapore 
Environment Council (SEC), which 
was set up to promote environmental 
awareness in this region. The 
‘Green Label’ can only be obtained 
by compliance with the strict eco 
standards specified by the SEC’s 
scheme and rigourous testing of the 
product for possible harmful content.

DUBOKEUR
As one of the leading green labels 
in the Netherlands, Dubokeur 
certificates are only granted to 
the most environmentally friendly 
products within a particular 
application. This certification is of 
particular significance to our Dutch 
customers, unequivocally positioning 
Accoya® wood as an outstanding 
environmental choice.
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*  As the production site of Tricoya® is still under development it is impossible at this stage to have the same LCA, carbon footprint and 
EPD studies executed for Tricoya®. As soon as the Tricoya® facilities are fully operational we will have the same detailed environmental 
assessments executed for Tricoya®. 

WESTERN RED CEDAR

Through our research and 
development group we are 
continually looking for ways to 
develop our technologies and 
products to make them more energy 
efficient and to reduce as far as 
possible any adverse impact on the 
environment.

One such area is that of timber 
sourcing. Radiata pine is currently 
used to produce most Accoya® wood. 
Although the intercontinental trans-
port distance may be high, because 
of low weight, efficient transport 
and the improved lifespan the annual 
transport emissions are competitive 
with continentally sourced timber. 

Nevertheless, we are currently 
engaged in comprehensive species 
testing with the end goal of being 
able to commercially acetylate the 
species that are most local to any of 
our current and potential licensees, 
wherever they may be in the world. 
That means reducing the need for 
transporting raw wood and therefore 
reducing our carbon footprint further 
still. As a result we have succesfully 
introduced Accoya® Alder made from 
certified North American and Euro-
pean sources. 

“Using wood supports a sustainable future”.



30

Accsys Technologies PLC Annual Report and Financial Statements – Year ended 31 March 2012   |  Corporate Governance

Corporate Governance

Details of the Company’s corporate governance arrangements are set 
out below. The Board of Directors acknowledges the importance of 
the Principles set out in The UK Corporate Governance Code issued by 
the Financial Reporting Council. The 2010 UK Corporate Governance 
Code is not compulsory for AIM listed or Euronext listed companies. 
The Board has applied the principles as far as practicable and 
appropriate for a relatively small public company.

Throughout the period, the Board comprised a non-executive 
Chairman, two executive Directors and a minimum of two non-
executive directors.

The Board meets regularly and is responsible for strategy, 
performance, approval of major capital projects and the framework 
of internal controls. The Board has a formal schedule of matters 
specifically reserved to it for decision. To enable the Board to 
discharge its duties, all Directors receive appropriate and timely 
information. Briefing papers are distributed to all Directors in advance 
of Board meetings. All Directors have access to the advice and 
services of the Company Secretary. The appointment and removal 
of the Company Secretary is a matter for the Board as a whole. In 
addition, procedures are in place to enable the Directors to obtain 
independent professional advice in the furtherance of their duties, if 
necessary, at the Company’s expense.

During the year, all serving Directors attended the quarterly Board 
meetings that were held. In addition to the scheduled meetings 
there is frequent contact between all the Directors in connection 
with the Company’s business including Audit and Nomination and 
Remuneration committee meetings which are held as required, but 
as a minimum twice per annum. Additional board meetings were held 
during the year in connection with certain specific matters such as 
the sale and leaseback of the Arnhem land and buildings.

Directors are subject to re-election by the shareholders at Annual 
General Meetings. The Articles of Association provide that Directors 
will be subject to re-election at the first opportunity after their 
appointment and the Board submit to re-election at intervals of three 
years.

Day to day operating decisions are made by the Management board of 
which the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer are 
members.

The Audit Committee consists of Patrick Shanley (Chairman), Gordon 
Campbell, Lord Sanderson and from 17 May 2011, Nick Meyer. The 
Audit Committee meets at least twice a year and is responsible for 
monitoring compliance with accounting and legal requirements and 
for reviewing the annual and interim financial statements prior to 
their submission for approval by the Board. The Committee also 
discusses the scope of the audit and its findings and considers the 
appointment and fees of the external auditors. The Audit Committee 
continues to believe that it is not currently appropriate for the 
Company to maintain a dedicated internal audit function due to its 
size.

The Audit Committee considers the independence and objectivity 
of the external auditors on an annual basis, with particular regard to 
non-audit services. The non-audit fees are considered by the Board 
not to affect the independence or objectivity of the auditors. The 
Audit Committee monitors such costs in the context of the audit fee 
for the period, ensuring that the value of non-audit service does not 
increase to a level where it could affect the auditors’ objectivity and 

independence. The Board also receives an annual confirmation of 
independence from the auditors.

The Nominations and Remuneration Committee consists of Lord 
Sanderson, Gordon Campbell, Patrick Shanley and from 17 May 
2011, Nick Meyer. Lord Sanderson acted as Chairman until 24 April 
2012 when Nick Meyer assumed the role. The Committee’s role 
is to consider and approve the nomination of directors and the 
remuneration and benefits of the executive Directors, including 
the award of share options and bonus share awards. In framing the 
Company’s remuneration policy, the Nominations & Remuneration 
Committee has given full consideration to Section D of The UK 
Corporate Governance Code.

The Board is responsible for establishing and maintaining the 
Company’s system of internal financial control and places importance 
on maintaining a strong control environment. The key procedures 
which the Directors have established with a view to providing 
effective internal financial control are as follows:

The Company’s organisational structure has clear lines of 
responsibility;

The Company prepares a comprehensive annual budget that is 
approved by the Board. Monthly results are reported against the 
budget and variances are closely monitored by the Directors; and

The Board is responsible for identifying the major business 
risks faced by the Company and for determining the appropriate 
courses of action to manage those risks.

The Directors recognise, however, that such a system of internal 
financial control can only provide reasonable, not absolute, assurance 
against material misstatement or loss.

RELATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
Communications with shareholders are given high priority. 

There is regular dialogue with shareholders including presentations 
after the Company’s preliminary announcement of the year-end 
results and six monthly results. The Board uses the Annual General 
Meeting to communicate with investors and welcomes their 
participation. The Chairman aims to ensure that the Directors are 
available at Annual General Meetings to answer questions. 
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The attendance of individual directors at meetings of the Board and its committees in the year under review was as follows: 

Board Audit Committee Committee
Number of meetings Attended Attended Attended

Gordon Campbell 5 12 3 3 3 3

Paul Clegg 12 12 3 - 2 -

Hans Pauli 12 12 3 - 2 -

Lord Sanderson 5 12 3 3 3 3

Patrick Shanley 5 12 3 3 3 3

Montague John “Nick’ Meyer (1) 3 10 2 2 2 2

Whilst all Directors are not members of the Board Committees they attend by invitation. 

Figures in the left hand column denote the number of meetings attended and figures in the right hand column denote the number of meetings 
held whilst the individual held office. 

Notes 
(1) Appointed as a Director on 17 May 2011 
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, the 
Remuneration Report and the financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements 
for each financial year. Under that law the directors have prepared the 
group financial statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, and 
the parent company financial statements in accordance with United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom 
Accounting Standards and applicable law). Under company law the 
directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of 
the group and the company and of the profit or loss of the group for 
that period. In preparing these financial statements, the directors are 
required to:

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them 
consistently;

make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable 
and prudent;

state whether IFRSs as adopted by the European Union and 
applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject 
to any material departures disclosed and explained in the group 
and parent company financial statements respectively;

prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis 
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the company will 
continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting 
records that are sufficient to show and explain the company’s 
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the company and the group and enable them to 
ensure that the financial statements and the Directors’ Remuneration 
Report comply with the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the 
group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. They are 
also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and the 
group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of 
the company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing 
the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ 
from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Group Independent Auditors’ report

We have audited the group financial statements of Accsys 
Technologies PLC for the year ended 31 March 2012 which 
comprise the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income, 
the Consolidated statement of financial position, the Consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and the Consolidated statement of 
cash flow and the related notes. The financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the 
European Union.

AUDITORS
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ responsibilities, 
the directors are responsible for the preparation of the group financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair 
view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the 
group financial statements in accordance with applicable law and 
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards 
require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical 
Standards for Auditors.

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for 
the company’s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of 
Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do 
not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any 
other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or 
into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our 
prior consent in writing. 

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an 
assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to 
the group’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and 
adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by the directors; and the overall presentation of 
the financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial and 
non-financial information in the Accsys Technologies PLC Annual 
Report and Financial Statements to identify material inconsistencies 
with the audited financial statements. If we become aware of any 
apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the 
implications for our report. 

In our opinion the group financial statements:

give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s affairs as at 
31 March 2012 and of its loss and cash flows for the year then 
ended;

have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as 
adopted by the European Union; and

have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the lAS Regulation.

In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report for the 
financial year for which the group financial statements are prepared is 
consistent with the group financial statements. 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following:

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in 
our opinion:

certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law 
are not made; or

we have not received all the information and explanations we 
require for our audit. 

We have reported separately on the parent company financial 
statements of Accsys Technologies PLC for the year ended 31 March 
2012 and on the information in the Remuneration Report that is 
described as having been audited.

Simon O’Brien (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 

London 

9 July 2012 
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Consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income  for the year ended 31 March 2012

Note

Before
Al Rajhi and

Diamond
Wood

Al Rajhi and
Diamond

Wood
adjustments

Before
Diamond

Wood
adjustments

and
restructuring

Diamond
Wood

adjustments
and

restructuring
costs

adjustments Total costs Total

Accoya® wood revenue 12,567 - 12,567

Licence revenue 70 - 70

Other revenue 1,063 – 1,063

2 13,700 – 13,700

Total cost of sales (14,209) – (14,209)

(509) – (509)

Other operating costs before 
restructuring costs 3 (13,486) – (13,486)

Restructuring costs 3 – (202) (202)

Total other operating costs (13,486) (202) (13,688)

impairment of licensee 
6 – 394 394

7 (13,995) 192 (13,803)

Finance income 8 18 – 18

Finance expense 9 (66) – (66)

(14,043) 192 (13,851)

Tax credit/(charge) 10 (553) – (553)

(14,596) 192 (14,404)

Gain/(loss) arising on translation of foreign 
operations (14) – (14)

the period (14,610) 192 (14,418)

Basic and diluted loss per 
ordinary share 12 €(0.06)

All results are derived from continuing operations. 

The notes on pages 38 to 57 form part of these financial statements. 
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Consolidated statement of financial 
position as at March 2012

Registered Company 05534340 

Note 2011
€’000

Intangible assets 14 7,576

Property, plant and equipment 15 26,427

Available for sale investments 16 –

Deferred tax 17 2,095

36,098

Current assets

Inventories 19 8,420

Trade and other receivables 20 9,589

Cash and cash equivalents 27,576

Corporation tax 8

45,593

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 21 (6,317)

Obligation under finance lease 24 -

(6,317)

Net current assets 39,276

Obligation under finance lease 24 –

–

Net assets 75,374

Share capital – Ordinary shares 22 4,031

Share premium account 124,809

Capital redemption reserve 148

Warrants reserve 82

Merger reserve 106,707

Accumulated loss (160,387)

Own shares (25)

Foreign currency translation reserve 9

Total equity 75,374

The financial statements were approved by the Board and authorised for issue on 9 July 2012

Paul Clegg

Hans Pauli
} Directors

The notes on pages 38 to 57 form part of these financial statements. 
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Consolidated statement of changes in 
equity for the year ended 31 March 2012

Share
capital

Ordinary
Share

premium

Capital

tion Warrant Own
Shares

currency

lation Retained
earnings Total

Total comprehensive 
expenses for the period – – – – – – (14) (14,404) (14,418)

Share based payments – – – – – – – 174 174

Shares issued 2,025 – – – – (25) – – 2,000

Premium on shares issued – 28,000 – – – – – – 28,000

Share issue costs – (1,939) – – – – – – (1,939)

Total comprehensive 
income/(expense) for the 
period – – – – – – 35 (14,376) (14,341)

Share based payments – – – – – – – 348 348

Shares issued 9 – – – – 25 – – 34

Premium on shares issued – 78 – – – – – – 78

Share capital is the amount subscribed for shares at nominal value (note 22).

Share premium represents the excess of the amount subscribed for share capital over the nominal value of these shares, net of share issue 
expenses. Share issue expenses comprise the costs in respect of the issue by the Company of new shares.

Capital redemption reserve represents the amounts transferred from share capital on redemption of deferred shares.

Warrant reserve represents the costs associated with the issue of warrants, calculated using a Black-Scholes model.

Merger reserve arose prior to transition to IFRS when merger accounting was adopted. 

Own shares represents 2,500,000 shares issued to an Employee Benefit Trust at nominal value on 22 February 2011. These shares were 
released to the employees after 31 December 2011. See note 13. 

Shares issued in the year together with premium arose from shares issued under the newly formed Employee Share Participation Plan. See note 
13. 

Foreign currency translation reserve arises on the re-translation of the Group’s USA subsidiary’s net assets which are denominated in a 
different functional currency, being US dollars.

Retained earnings represent the cumulative loss of the group attributable to the owners of the parent. 

The notes on pages 38 to 57 form part of these financial statements. 



37

Consolidated statement of cash flow
for the year ended 31 March 2012.

2011
€’000

(13,851)

Adjustments for:

Amortisation of intangible assets 264

Depreciation of land, property, plant and equipment 1,630

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 8

Net finance expense 48

Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of receivables (394)

Equity-settled share-based payment expenses 174

(12,121)

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables (468)

Decrease in deferred income –

Decrease/(increase) in inventories (4,661)

Decrease in trade and other payables (480)

(17,730)

24

(17,706)

Interest received 18

Expenditure on capitalised internal development (252)

Disposal of property, plant and equipment 22

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (1,073)

(1,285)

Proceeds from sale and leaseback –

Interest paid –

Finance expenses –

Proceeds from issue of share capital 30,000

Share issue costs (1,686)

28,314

9,323

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (5)

Opening cash and cash equivalents 18,258

27,576

The notes on pages 38 to 57 form part of these financial statements. 
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Notes to the financial statements
 for the year ended 31 March 2012

The Group’s financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention (except for certain financial instruments and 
equity investments which are measured at fair value), in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board as endorsed by the European Union and with those parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable 
to companies preparing their financial statements under adopted IFRS. The Company has elected to prepare its parent company financial 
statements in accordance with UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (UK GAAP). These are presented on page 59. 

The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes that the Group will continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future, which is deemed to be at least 12 months from the date these financial statements are approved. 

As part of the Group’s going concern review, the Directors have reviewed the Group’s trading forecasts and working capital requirements for 
the foreseeable future. These forecasts indicate that, in order to continue as a going concern, the Group is dependent on the achievement of 
certain operating performance measures relating to the production and sales of Accoya® wood from the plant in Arnhem and the collection 
of on-going working capital items in line with internally agreed budgets. No assumptions have been made concerning the collection of licence 
income from existing or new licensees. 

The Directors have considered the internally agreed budgets and performance measures and believe that appropriate controls and procedures 
are in place or will be in place to make sure that these are met. The Directors believe that while some uncertainty inherently remains in 
achieving the budget, in particular in relation to market conditions outside of the Group’s control, that there are a sufficient number of 
alternative actions and measures that can be taken in order to achieve the Group’s medium and long term objectives. 

Therefore the Directors believe that the going concern basis is the most appropriate on which to prepare the financial statements. 

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The net assets as at 31 March 2012 of €61m contain balances in relation to the Group’s goodwill, capitalised internal development costs and 
intellectual property rights of €7.6m. The recoverability of these balances is dependent upon the Group’s existing licensees progressing with 
the completion of their manufacturing facilities or the signing of other new licence agreements. While the scope and timing of the production 
facilities to be built by the Group’s existing licensees remains uncertain, the Directors remain confident that revenue from either existing 
licensees or new licensees will be generated, demonstrating the recoverability of these balances. 

In addition, the carrying value of the €25.6m of property, plant and equipment, which primarily relate to the Arnhem plant, are dependent upon 
the future profitable sales of Accoya® wood made there. The price of the Accoya® wood and the raw materials and other inputs vary according 
to market conditions outside of our control. Should the price of the raw materials increase greater than the sales price or in a way which no 
longer makes Accoya® as competitive, then the carrying value of the tangible fixed assets may be in doubt and become impaired. The Directors 
are comfortable that the current market and best estimates of future prices means that this risk is limited. 

The following new accounting standards, amendments and interpretations issued by the IASB and the IFRIC are effective for the year ended 31 
March 2012 but have had no material effect on the results or financial position of the Company disclosed within these financial statements: 

Amendments to IFRS 3 – ‘Business Combinations’

Amendments to IFRS 7 – ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ 

Amendments to IAS 1 – ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ 

Amendments to IAS 24 – ‘ Related Party Disclosures’ 

Amendment to IAS 27 (2008) – ‘Separate Financial Statements’ 

Amendment to IAS 32 – ‘Classification of Rights Issues’ 

IFRIC 19 – ‘Extinguishing financial liabilities with equity instruments’ 

Amendment to IFRIC 13 – ‘Customer Loyalty Programmes’ 

Amendment to IFRIC 14 – ‘Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement’ 

Where the Company has the power, either directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of another entity or business so as 
to obtain benefits from its activities, it is classified as a subsidiary. The consolidated financial statements present the results of the Group as if 
they formed a single entity. Inter-company transactions and balances between Group companies are therefore eliminated in full. 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the results of business combinations using the purchase method. In the consolidated 
statement of financial position, the acquirer’s identifiable assets, liabilities, and contingent liabilities are initially recognised at their fair values 
at the acquisition date. The results of acquired operations are included in the consolidated income statement from the date on which control is 
obtained. 
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As allowed under IFRS 1, some business combinations effected prior to transition to IFRS, were accounted for using the merger method of 
accounting. Under this method, assets and liabilities are included in the consolidation at their book values, not fair values, and any differences 
between the cost of investment and net assets acquired were taken to the merger reserve. The majority of the merger reserve arose from a 
corporate restructuring in the year ended 31 March 2006 which introduced Accsys Technologies PLC as the new holding company. 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable. Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic 
benefit will flow to the Group and that the revenue can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before 
revenue is recognised. 

MANUFACTURING REVENUE
Revenue is recognised in respect of the sale of goods when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have been 
passed to the buyer, the timing of which is dependent on the particular shipment terms. When a customer provides untreated wood to 
be processed by the Group in order to produce Accoya®, revenue is recognised when the Group’s obligations under the relevant customer 
contract have been substantially completed, which is before the finished Accoya® has been collected by the customer. Manufacturing 
revenue includes the sale of Accoya® wood and other revenue, principally relating to the sale of acetic acid. 

LICENCE FEE INCOME
Licence fee income is recognised over the period of the relevant agreements according to the specific terms of each agreement or 
the quantities and/or values of the licensed product sold. The accounting policy for the recognition of licence fees is based upon an 
assessment of the work required before the licence is signed and subsequently during the design, construction and commissioning of the 
licensees’ plant, with an appropriate proportion of the fee recognised upon signing and the balance recognised as the project progresses 
to completion. The amount of any cash or billings received but not recognised as income is included in the financial statements as deferred 
income and shown as a liability. 

Exceptional items are events or transactions that fall outside the ordinary activities of the Group and which by virtue of their size or incidence, 
have been separately disclosed in order to improve a reader’s understanding of the financial statements. These include items relating to the 
restructuring of a significant part of the Group, impairment losses (or the reversal of previously recorded exceptional impairments), expenditure 
relating to the integration and implementation of significant acquisitions and other one-off events or transactions. 

Interest accrues using the effective interest method, i.e. the rate that discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of 
the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset. 

Finance expenses include the fees associated with the Group’s credit facilities which are expensed over the period which the Group has access 
to the facilities.

Finance expenses also include an allocation of finance charges in respect of the sale and leaseback of the Arnhem land and buildings. The 
total finance charge (calculated as the difference between the total minimum lease payments and the liability at the inception of the lease) is 
allocated over the life of the lease using the sum-of-digits method. 

The Company awards share options to acquire shares of the Company to certain directors and employees. The Company also awards bonuses to 
certain directors and employees in the form of the award of deferred shares of the Company.

In addition the Company has established an Employee Share Participation Plan under which employees subscribe for new shares which are 
held by a trust for the benefit of the subscribing employees. The Shares are released to employees after one year, together with an additional, 
matching share on a 1 for 1 basis. 

The fair value of options, deferred shares and matching shares granted are recognised as an employee expense with a corresponding increase 
in equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and is charged to the comprehensive income statement over the vesting period during which 
the employees become unconditionally entitled to the options or shares.

The fair value of share options granted is measured using a modified Black Scholes model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon 
which the options were granted. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options that vest only 
where vesting is dependent upon the satisfaction of service and non-market vesting conditions. 

Non-market vesting conditions are taken into account by adjusting the number of equity instruments expected to vest at each balance sheet 
date so that, ultimately, the cumulative amount recognised over the vesting period is based on the number of options which eventually vest. 
Market vesting conditions are factored into the fair value of the options granted. The cumulative expense is not adjusted for failure to achieve 
a market vesting condition. 

DIVIDENDS

Equity dividends are recognised when they become legally payable. Interim equity dividends are recognised when paid. Final equity dividends 
are recognised when approved by the shareholders at an annual general meeting.
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Notes to the financial statements continued

PENSIONS

The Group contributes to certain defined contribution pension and employee benefit schemes on behalf of its employees. These costs are 
charged to the comprehensive income statement on an accruals basis.

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the comprehensive income statement except to 
the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance 
sheet date together with any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. Current tax includes the expected impact of claims 
submitted by the Group to tax authorities in respect of enhanced tax relief for expenditure on Research and Development.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and 
the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary differences are not provided for:

the initial recognition of goodwill,

the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit other than in a business combination, and

differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Recognition of deferred tax assets is restricted to those 
instances where it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the difference can be utilised.

The individual financial statements of each Group company are presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in which it 
operates (the functional currency). For the purposes of the consolidated financial statements, the results and financial position of each Group 
company are expressed in Euro, which is the functional currency of the parent Company, and the presentation currency of the consolidated 
financial statements.

In preparing the financial statements of the individual companies, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currencies are 
recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities that 
are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of 
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are translated 
at exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income and expense items are translated at the average monthly exchange rates 
prevailing in the month in which the transaction took place. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income 
and the foreign currency translation reserve.

Government grants are recognised where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching conditions will be met 
with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income over the period necessary to match the grant on a systematic basis 
to the costs that it is intended to compensate. Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income account and is 
released to the statement of comprehensive income over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a subsidiary undertaking is the difference between the fair value of the consideration paid and the fair 
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired. It is capitalised, and is subject to annual impairment reviews by the Directors. Any 
impairment arising is charged to the comprehensive income statement. As the Group has taken advantage of the exemption from restating all 
pre-transition acquisitions under IFRS 1 ‘First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards’, goodwill includes intangible assets 
arising on those acquisitions that are separately identifiable.

Intellectual property rights, including patents, which cover a portfolio of novel processes and products, are shown in the financial statements at 
cost less amortisation and any amounts by which the carrying value is assessed during an annual review to have been impaired. At present, the 
useful economic life of the intellectual property is considered to be 20 years.

Internal development costs are incurred as part of the Group’s activities including new processes, process improvements, identifying new 
species and improving the Group’s existing products. Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development costs are capitalised when all of 
the criteria set out in IAS 38 ‘Intangible Assets’ (including criteria concerning technical feasibility, ability and intention to use or sell, ability to 
generate future economic benefits, ability to complete the development and ability to reliably measure the expenditure) have been met. These 
internal development costs are amortised on a straight line basis over their useful economic life, between 10 and 20 years. 
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Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment charged. Depreciation is provided at rates 
calculated to write off the cost less estimated residual value of each asset, except freehold land, over its expected useful life on a straight line 
basis, as follows: 

Plant and machinery These assets comprise pilot plants and production facilities. These facilities are depreciated from the date 
they become available for use at rates applicable to the asset lives expected for each class of asset, with rates 
between 5% and 20%.

Office equipment Between 20% and 50%.
Leased land Land held under a finance lease is depreciated over the life of the lease.
Freehold land Freehold land is not depreciated.

The carrying amount of the non-current non-financial assets of the Group is compared to the recoverable amount of the assets whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the net book value may not be recoverable, or in the case of goodwill, annually. The 
recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and the fair value less cost to sell. In assessing the value in use, the expected future cash 
flows from the assets are determined by applying a discount rate to the anticipated pre-tax future cash flows. An impairment charge is 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income to the extent that the carrying amount exceeds the assets’ recoverable amount. The 
revised carrying amounts are amortised in line with Group accounting policies. A previously recognised impairment loss, other than on goodwill, 
is reversed if the recoverable amount increases as a result of a reversal of the conditions that originally resulted in the impairment. This 
reversal is recognised in the comprehensive income statement and is limited to the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately 
identifiable cash flows (cash generating units) for purposes of assessing impairment.

LEASES

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease 
payments, each determined at the inception of the lease. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the balance sheet as a finance 
lease obligation. Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and reduction of lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate 
of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

INVENTORIES

Raw materials, which consist of unprocessed timber, chemicals and various materials used in manufacturing operations are valued at the lower 
of cost and net realisable value. The basis on which cost is derived is a first-in, first-out basis. 

Finished goods, comprising processed timber, are stated at the lower of weighted average cost of production or net realisable value. Costs 
include direct materials, direct labour costs and production overheads (including the depreciation/depletion of relevant property and plant and 
equipment) absorbed at an appropriate level of capacity utilisation. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all expected 
costs to completion and costs to be incurred in selling and distribution. 

Financial assets are classified as cash and cash equivilants, available for sale investments and loans and receivables, depending on the purpose 
for which the asset was acquired. When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value plus, in the case of investments 
not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

Except where a reliable fair value cannot be obtained, unlisted shares held by the group are classified as available for sale investments and 
are stated at fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised directly in equity, with the exception of impairment 
losses which are recognised directly in profit or loss. Where an investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or 
loss previously recognised in the profit or loss in the year. Where it is not possible to obtain a reliable fair value, these investments are held at 
cost less provision for impairment. 

Loans and receivables, which comprise non-derivative financial assets with fixed and determinable payments that are not quoted on an 
active market are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to their acquisition or issue, and are 
subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less provision for impairment. 

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
These assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted on an active market. They arise 
principally from the provision of goods and services to customers. Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value less an allowance 
for any uncollectible amounts. A provision for impairment is made when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to 
collect debts. Bad debts are written off when identified. 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits, including 
liquidity funds, with an original maturity of three months or less. For the purpose of the statement of consolidated cash flow, cash and 
cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. 
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Notes to the financial statements continued

OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Trade payables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

SHARE CAPITAL

Financial instruments issued by the Group are treated as equity only to the extent that they do not meet the definition of a financial liability. 
The Group’s shares are classified as equity instruments. 

In preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements, management has to make judgments on how to apply the Group’s accounting policies 
and make estimates about the future. The critical judgments that have been made in arriving at the amounts recognised in the Consolidated 
Financial Statements and the key sources of estimation and uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying value of assets and liabilities in the next financial year are discussed below: 

REVENUE RECOGNITION
The Group has considered the criteria for the recognition of licence fee income over the period of the agreement and is satisfied that the 
recognition of such revenue is appropriate. The recognition of licence fees is based upon an assessment of the work required before the 
licence is signed and subsequently during the construction and commissioning of the licensees’ plant, with an appropriate proportion 
of the fee recognised upon signing and the balance recognised as the project progresses to completion. The Group also considers the 
recoverability of amounts before recognising them as income. 

GOODWILL
The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment in accordance with the accounting policy stated above. The 
recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based on value in use calculations. These calculations require the 
use of judgments in relation to discount rates and future forecasts. 

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS AND PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
The Group tests the carrying amount of the intellectual property rights and property, plant and equipment whenever events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the net book value may not be recoverable. These calculations require the use of estimates in respect of 
future cash-flows from the assets by applying a discount rate to the anticipated pre-tax future cash-flows. The Group also reviews the 
estimated useful lives at the end of each annual reporting period. 

INVENTORIES
The Group reviews the net realisable value of, and demand for, its inventory on a monthly basis to provide assurance that recorded 
inventory is stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 

AVAILABLE FOR SALE INVESTMENTS
The group has an investment in unlisted equity shares carried at nil value. The investment is valued at cost less any impairment as a 
reliable fair value cannot be obtained since there is no active market for the shares and there is currently uncertainty around the future 
funding of the business. The Group makes appropriate enquiries and considers all of the information available to it in order to assess 
whether any impairment has occurred. 

IFRS 9 – ‘Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement’

IFRS 10 – ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’

IFRS 11 – ‘Joint Arrangements’

IFRS 12 – ‘Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities’

IFRS 13 – ‘Fair Value Measurement’

IAS 27 (May 2011) – ‘Separate Financial Statements’

IAS 28 (May 2011) – ‘Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures’

Amendments to IFRS 7 (October 2010) – Transfer of financial assets

Amendments to IAS 12 (December 2010) – Deferred tax: recovery of underlying assets

Amendments to IFRS 1 (December 2010) – Severe Hyperinflation and removal of fixes dates for first time adopters

Amendments to IAS 1 (June 2011) – Presentation of items of Other Comprehensive Income

Amendments to IAS 19 (June 2011) – Employee Benefits

Entities in EU Member States can only apply IFRS or IFRIC that have been endorsed by the European Union. Of the standards and 
interpretations listed above IFRSs 9, 10, 11, 12 and 13 and the Amendments to IASs 12, 27 and 28 and IFRS 1 and had not yet been endorsed 
by the European Union at the date these financial statements were authorised for issue. The Directors anticipate that the adoption of these 
standards and interpretations in future periods will have no material impact on the financial statements of the Group. Other standards and 
interpretations that have been issued but which are not yet effective are not expected to have any impact on the Group.
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The Group’s business is the development, commercialisation and licensing of proprietary technology for the manufacture of Accoya® wood, 
Tricoya® wood elements and related acetylation technologies. Segmental reporting is divided between licensing activities, the manufacturing 
and sale of Accoya® and research and development activities. Licensing revenue includes revenue attributable to fees received or receivable 
in relation to the licensing of the Group’s technology to third parties. Manufacturing revenue includes the sale of Accoya® wood and other 
revenue, principally relating to the sale of acetic acid. Revenue is allocated between licence fees and the product manufactured at the Group’s 
Arnhem facility. All costs of sales are allocated against the manufacturing activities in Arnhem unless they can be directly attributable 
to a licensee. Other operating costs incurred in the Netherlands are attributed to the manufacturing segment unless they can be directly 
attributable to research and development, with all remaining other operating costs allocated to licensing. Assets and liabilities cannot be readily 
allocated to the three segments and therefore no additional segmental information has been disclosed.

Licensing
Research and 

Total

70 13,630 – 13,700

Cost of sales – (14,209) – (14,209)

70 (579) – (509)

Other operating costs (6,550) (5,448) (1,488) (13,486)

Restructuring costs (202) – – (202)

Total other operating costs (6,752) (5,448) (1,488) (13,688)

394 – – 394

Operating loss (6,288) (6,027) (1,488) (13,803)

Finance income 18

Finance expense (66)

(13,851)

Analysis of Revenue by geographical area of customers:

Netherlands 4,371

Ireland 221

United Kingdom 2,095

Germany 2,495

North America 1,262

China 1,530

Switzerland 486

Belgium 103

Norway 154

India 210

Greece 213

Italy 301

Other 259

13,700

Analysis of non-current assets (Other than financial assets and deferred tax):

UK 3,136

Other countries 26,636

Un-allocated – Goodwill 4,231

34,003

Revenue generated from one customer exceeded 10% of Group revenue in 2012, represented by 92% of the revenue from Ireland and relates 
to manufacturing revenue. Revenue generated from two customers exceeded 10% of Group revenue in 2011, represented by 100% of the 
revenue from Germany and China respectively and relates to manufacturing revenue. 

The segmental assets in the current year and the previous year were predominantly held in Europe. Additions to property, plant, equipment and 
intangible assets in the current year and the previous year were predominantly incurred in Europe. 
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Other operating costs consist of the operating costs, other than the cost of sales, associated with the operation of the plant in Arnhem and the 
offices in Dallas and London: 

Sales and marketing 2,331

Research and development 1,488

Depreciation and amortisation 1,894

Other operating costs 2,287

Administration costs 5,486

Restructuring costs 202

13,688

Restructuring costs of €0.2m in the previous year related to the termination payments made to staff. This helped the Group headcount reduce 
by 22% over two years. 

Staff costs (including Directors) consist of:

Wages and salaries 5,996

Social security costs 727

Other pension costs 309

Share based payments 174

7,206

The average monthly number of employees, including executive Directors, during the year was as follows:
Number Number

Administration, research and engineering 66 70

Operating 30 31

Other Pension costs include a reversal of provision for prior period pension costs of €324,000. This provision related to potential changes to the 
pension scheme which were finalised during the period without costs being incurred. 

Directors’ remuneration consists of:

Directors’ emoluments 682

Compensation for loss of office 109

Company contributions to money purchase pension schemes 40

831

Compensation of key management personnel included the following amounts: 

Salary and
short term

benefits Pension Loss of office

Share based
payments

charge Total Total

Paul Clegg 297 28 – 334 456

Hans Pauli 208 12 – 134 254

505 40 – 468 710

The Group made contributions to 2 (2011: 2) Directors’ personal pension plans. 
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A net impairment of €2.9m attributable to Al Rajhi, representing a non-cash impairment of licensee net receivables (consisting of €5.4m prepaid 
commission costs net of €2.55m deferred income) recorded in previous years. The impairment has been recorded as uncertainty remains as to 
whether the licence will proceed.

The reversal of the impairment of €0.4m recorded in the year ended March 2011 represents money received from Diamond Wood under the 
licence agreement which had previously been impaired. 

Summary of impairment/(release of impairment) charges relating to licensee related balances:

Trade receivables and accrued income (394)

Release of deferred income –

Prepayments – licensing commission –

(394)

This has been arrived at after charging:

Staff costs (including restructuring costs of €nil (2011: €195,000) 7,206

Other restructuring costs 7

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,630

Amortisation of intangible assets 264

Operating lease rentals 431

Fees payable to the Company’s auditors for the audit of the Company’s annual accounts 60

Fees payable to the Company’s auditors and its associates for other services:

– audit of the Company’s subsidiaries 78

– other services persuant to legislation 21

– tax services 70

Foreign exchange (gains)/losses 81

Research & Development (excluding staff costs) 714

Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 8

Interest receivable on bank and other deposits 18

Arnhem land sale and leaseback finance charge –

Equity line of credit costs 66

66
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 Tax recognised in the statement of comprehensive income comprises:

UK Corporation tax on profits for the year –

Under/(over) provision in respect of prior years 1

Research and development tax credit in respect of prior years –

Research and development tax credit in respect of current year –

1

Overseas tax at rate of 15% 3

Overseas tax at rate of 25% –

Under/(over) provision in respect of prior years –

Utilisation of deferred tax asset 549

Total tax (credit)/charge reported in the statement of comprehensive income 553

The tax credit for the period is lower than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK (2012: 26%, 
2011: 28%) due to:

Loss profit before tax (13,851)

Expected tax charge at 26% (2011 – 28%) (3,878)

Expenses not deductible in determining taxable profit 123

Over provision in respect of prior years 1

Losses transferred to deferred tax asset but not recognised 4,363

Effects of overseas taxation (56)

Other temporary differences –

Research and development tax credit in respect of prior years –

Research and development tax credit in respect of current year –

Total tax (credit)/charge reported in the statement of comprehensive income 553

Final Dividend €Nil (2011: €Nil) per Ordinary share proposed

and paid during year relating to the previous year’s results –

The calculation of earnings per ordinary share is based on earnings after tax and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 
during the year. 

BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

Weighted average number of Ordinary shares in issue (‘000) 221,696

Loss for the year (€’000) (14,404)

Basic and diluted loss per share € (0.06)

Basic and diluted losses per share are based upon the same figures. There are no dilutive share options as these would increase the loss per 
share. 
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SHARE OPTIONS
The exercise prices and number of outstanding share options were adjusted during the prior year at the same time that the Company 
completed the issue of 200m new shares on 22 February 2011. This adjustment was carried out under the anti-dilutive provisions of both the 
2005 and 2008 Unapproved Share Option Scheme rules. The adjustment resulted in the exercise price reducing to 71% of the previous exercise 
price while the number of share options increased by 42%: 

Options granted on 1 March 2005 at an exercise price of €0.46 per Ordinary share fully vested during the prior year. These options may be 
exercised until 30 March 2015. At 31 March 2012, 269,265 of these options were outstanding with an exercise price of €0.32. 

Options granted on 14 June 2006 at an exercise price of €1.20 per Ordinary share vested immediately but are not exercisable before 14 
June 2009. These options may be exercised until 14 June 2016. At 31 March 2012, none of these options were outstanding. 

Options granted on 28 March 2007 at an exercise price of €2.59 per Ordinary share vest to one third of the options granted upon 
achievement of each of the following: 

Cumulative €5 million licence income recognised under group accounting policies 

Cumulative €20 million revenue from sales of Accoya® wood 

Announcement of annual Group distributable earnings exceeding €5 million 

  Once vested, these options may be exercised until 31 March 2017. At 31 March 2012, 2,343,034 of these options were outstanding at an 
exercise price of €1.83. 

Options granted on 15 May 2007 at an exercise price of €3.84 per Ordinary share vest to one third of the options granted upon 
achievement of each of the following: 

Cumulative €5 million licence income recognised under Group accounting policies 

Cumulative €20 million revenue from sales of Accoya® wood 

Announcement of annual Group distributable earnings exceeding €5 million 

  Once vested, these options may be exercised until 15 May 2017. At 31 March 2012, none of these options were outstanding. 

Options granted on 11 October 2007 at an exercise price of €3.80 per Ordinary share vest to one third of the options granted upon 
achievement of each of the following: 

Cumulative €15 million revenue from sales of Accoya® wood 

Announcement of annual Group distributable earnings exceeding €15 million 

Cumulative €75 million gross licence revenue recognised under Group accounting policies 

  Once vested these options may be exercised until 11 October 2017. At 31 March 2012, none of these options were outstanding. 

Options granted on 20 November 2007 at an exercise price of €3.65 per Ordinary share vest to one third of the options granted upon 
achievement of each of the following: 

Annual Accoya® wood production exceeds 23,000m3 in financial year 

Annual Accoya® wood sales revenue exceeds €26 million in financial year 

The second pair of reactors in the wood modification plant are processing more than 25 batches per month Once vested these options 
may be exercised until 20 November 2017. At 31 March 2012, 298,900 of these options were outstanding at an exercise price of 
€2.58. 

Options granted on 18 June 2008 at an exercise price of €2.80 per Ordinary share vest to one third of the options granted upon 
achievement of each of the following: 

Announcement of audited Annual Accoya® wood sales revenue exceeds €20 million in financial year 

Announcement of audited annual Group distributable earnings exceeding €15 million 

Announcement of audited cumulative €75 million gross licence revenue recognised under Group accounting policies

  Once vested these options may be exercised until 18 June 2018. At 31 March 2012, 99,161 of these options were outstanding at an 
exercise price of €1.98. 

Options granted on 8 December 2008 at an exercise price of €1.38 per Ordinary share vest to one third of the options granted upon 
achievement of each of the following: 

Announcement of audited Annual Accoya® wood sales revenue exceeds €20 million in financial year 

Announcement of audited annual Group distributable earnings exceeding €15 million 
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Announcement of audited cumulative €75 million gross licence revenue recognised under Group accounting policies 

  Once vested these options may be exercised until 8 December 2018. At 31 March 2012, 228,070 of these options were outstanding at an 
exercise price of €0.97. 

Options granted on 19 November 2009 at an exercise price of €0.50 per Ordinary share vest to 30% of the options granted upon 
achievement of median Total Shareholder Return (‘TSR’). Full vesting of the options granted occurs upon achievement of upper quartile 
TSR measured over the three year period. Once vested, these options may be exercised until 19 November 2019. At 31 March 2012, 
2,557,424 of these options were outstanding at an exercise price of €0.35. 

Options granted on 1 April 2010 at an exercise price of €0.46 per Ordinary share vest to 30% of the options granted upon achievement of 
median TSR. Full vesting of the options granted occurs upon achievement of upper quartile TSR measured over the three year period. Once 
vested, these options may be exercised until 1 April 2020. At 31 March 2012, 1,017,354 of these options were outstanding at an exercise 
price of €0.32. 

Options granted on 27 July 2010 at an exercise price of €0.34 per Ordinary share vest to 30% of the options granted on achievement of 
median TSR. Full vesting of the options granted occurs upon achievement of upper quartile TSR measured over the three year period. Once 
vested, these options may be exercised until 27 July 2020. At 31 March 2012, 6,188,332 of these options were outstanding at an exercise 
price of €0.24. 

Options granted on 1 April 2011 at an exercise price of €0.17 per Ordinary share vest to 30% of the options granted upon achievement of 
median TSR. Full vesting of the options granted occurs upon achievement of upper quartile TSR measured over the three year period. Once 
vested, these options may be exercised until 1 April 2021. At 31 March 2012, 718,173 of these options were outstanding at an exercise 
price of €0.17. 

Options granted on 1 August 2011 at an exercise price of €0.10 per Ordinary share vest to 30% of the options granted on achievement 
of median TSR. Full vesting of the options granted occurs upon achievement of upper quartile TSR measured over the three year period. 
Once vested, these options may be exercised until 1 August 2021. At 31 March 2012, 7,537,982 of these options were outstanding at an 
exercise price of €0.10. 

TSR is measured on a relative basis compared to the FTSE Small Cap index over a three year period from grant date. Unless discretion is 
exercised by the Nomination & Remuneration Committee, all options are forfeit following an option holder’s termination of contract. 

Outstanding options granted under the share option scheme are as follows: 

Number of outstanding Post Dilution
Option

Pre Dilution
Option

Date of grant price price

1 March 2005 2,339,067 3.9 € 0.32 € 0.46

14 June 2006 11,333 5.2 € 0.85 € 1.20

28 March 2007 3,444,666 6 € 1.83 € 2.59

15 May 2007 944,391 6.1 € 2.71 € 3.84

11 October 2007 1,416,586 6.5 € 2.68 € 3.80

20 November 2007 477,390 6.6 € 2.58 € 3.65

18 June 2008 417,893 7.3 € 1.98 € 2.80

8 December 2008 1,333,008 7.7 € 0.97 € 1.38

19 November 2009 2,557,424 8.6 € 0.35 € 0.50

1 April 2010 1,017,354 9 € 0.32 € 0.46

27 July 2010 6,414,985 9.3 € 0.24 € 0.34

1 April 2011 – – € 0.17 –

1 August 2011 – – € 0.10 –
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Movements in the weighted average values are as follows: 

Weighted

price Number

Outstanding at 31 March 2010 €2.00 11,729,543

Granted during the period from 1 April 2010 to 21 February 2011 €0.36 5,246,655

Exercised during the period from 1 April 2010 to 21 February 2011 €0.00 –

Forfeited during the period from 1 April 2010 to 21 February 2011 €2.21 (2,578,666)

Outstanding at 22 February 2011 €1.36 14,397,532

Impact of anti-dilution adjustment on 22 February 2011 (€0.40) 5,997,814

Outstanding at 22 February 2011 €0.96 20,395,346

Forfeited in period from 23 February to 31 March 2011 €2.59 (21,249)

Outstanding at 31 March 2011 €0.96 20,374,097

Granted during the year €0.11 8,331,155

Forfeited during the year €1.52 (7,447,558)

Outstanding at 31 March 2012 €0.43 21,257,694

The exercise price of options outstanding at the end of the year ranged between €0.10 and €2.58 (2011: €0.24 and €2.71) and their weighted 
average contractual life was 8.1 years (2011: 7.5 years). 

Of the total number of options outstanding at the year-end, 1,831,287 (2011: 5,784,634) had vested and were exercisable at the end of the 
year. No options were exercised in the current or previous year.

The weighted average fair value of each option granted during the year was €0.05 (2011: €0.11). 

The fair value of executive share options granted during the current and previous years is calculated based on a modified Black-Scholes model 
assuming inputs shown below: 

Share price at grant date (€) 0.10 0.17 0.34 0.46 0.50

Exercise price (€) 0.10 0.17 0.34 0.46 0.50

Expected life (years) 3 3 3 3 3

Contractual life (years) 10 10 10 10 10

Risk free rate 1.54% 2.25% 2.30% 2.00% 2.00%

Expected volatility 85% 85% 60% 60% 60%

Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Volatility has been estimated by reference to the historic volatility since October 2005 when the Company’s shares were listed on AIM. The 
resulting fair value is expensed over the vesting period of the options on the assumption that a proportion of options will lapse over the service 
period as employees leave the Group. The anti-dilutive adjustment in the previous year, described above, did not result in any change in the 
total fair value of the share based payments, with the reduction in the fair value in the individual being offset by the increase in the number of 
outstanding options. 

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT TRUST – SHARE BONUS AWARD 
On 22 February 2011, in connection with employee remuneration and incentivisation arrangements for the period from 31 March 2010 to 
31 December 2010, 2,500,000 new Ordinary shares were issued to an Employee Benefit Trust, the beneficiaries of which are the Executive 
Directors and Senior Managers. Such new Ordinary Shares were to vest if the employees remained in employment with the Company to the 
vesting date, being 31 December 2011 (subject to certain other provisions including good-leaver, take-over and nomination and remuneration 
committee discretion provisions).

As at 31 March 2011, the Employment Benefit Trust was consolidated by the Company and the 2,500,000 shares are recorded as Own Shares 
within equity. 

On 31 December 2011, all of the relevant Executive Directors and Senior Managers continued to be employed by the Company and as a 
result the shares vested and subsequently were released to the individuals following the payment of the nominal value of the shares by the 
individuals. The fair value of the awards was expensed over the vesting period (from 22 February 2011 to 31 December 2011). 
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EMPLOYEE SHARE PARTICIPATION PLAN
During the year, the Company established a new Employee Share Participation Plan (the “Plan”). The Plan is intended to promote the long 
term growth and profitability of Accsys by providing employees with an opportunity to acquire an ownership interest in new ordinary shares 
(‘Shares’) in the Company as an additional benefit of employment.

Under the terms of the Plan, the Company issues these Shares to a trust for the benefit of the subscribing employees. The Shares are 
released to employees after one year, together with an additional Share on a 1 for 1 matched basis provided the employee has remained in 
the employment of Accsys at that point in time (subject to good leaver provisions). The Plan is in line with industry approved employee share 
plans and is open for subscription by employees twice a year following release of annual and half yearly financial results. The maximum amount 
available for subscription by any employee is €5,000 per annum. 

During the year ended 31 March 2012 the plan was open for subscription twice. In July 2011 various employees subscribed for a total of 
783,283 Shares at an acquisition price of €0.11 per Share. In December 2011 various employees subscribed for a total of 130,831 Shares at an 
acquisition price of €0.09 per Share.

Internal

costs

Intellectual
property

rights Total

Cost

At 31 March 2010 – 73,200 4,231 77,431

Additions 252 – – 252

At 31 March 2011 252 73,200 4,231 77,683

Additions 283 – – 283

At 31 March 2012 535 73,200 4,231 77,966

Amortisation

At 31 March 2010 – 69,843 – 69,843

Amortisation – 264 – 264

At 31 March 2011 – 70,107 – 70,107

Amortisation 16 264 – 280

At 31 March 2012 16 70,371 – 70,387

At 31 March 2012 519 2,829 4,231 7,579

At 31 March 2011 252 3,093 4,231 7,576

At 31 March 2010 – 3,357 4,231 7,588

The carrying value of internal development costs, intellectual property rights and goodwill on consolidation have been allocated for impairment 
testing purposes to one cash generating unit being the Group’s licensing operations. The recoverable amount of internal development costs, 
intellectual property rights and goodwill relating to this operation is determined based on a value in use calculation which uses cash flow 
projections based on financial budgets. Cash flows have been projected for a period of 20 years corresponding with the expected minimum 
life of the intellectual property rights and based on a pre tax discount rate of 20% per annum (2011: 20%). The key assumption used in the 
value in use calculations is the level of future licence fees estimated by management over the budget period. These have been based on past 
experience and expected future revenues. A 5% increase in the discount rate or a 15% reduction in expected revenues would not give rise to an 
impairment. 



51

Land and
buildings

Plant and
machinery

Office
equipment Total

At 31 March 2010 6,815 25,104 394 32,313

Additions – 1,040 72 1,112

Disposals – (36) – (36)

Foreign currency translation gain/(loss) – – (4) (4)

At 31 March 2011 6,815 26,108 462 33,385

Additions 65 850 154 1,069

Disposals – – – –

Foreign currency translation gain/(loss) – – (4) (4)

At 31 March 2012 6,880 26,958 612 34,450

Depreciation

At 31 March 2010 – 4,980 361 5,341

Charge for the year – 1,586 44 1,630

Disposals – (6) – (6)

Foreign currency translation gain/(loss) – – (7) (7)

At 31 March 2011 – 6,560 398 6,958

Charge for the year 75 1,733 74 1,882

Disposals – – – –

Foreign currency translation gain/(loss) – – (4) (4)

At 31 March 2012 75 8,293 468 8,836

At 31 March 2012 6,805 18,665 144 25,614

At 31 March 2011 6,815 19,548 64 26,427

Included within tangible fixed assets are assets with an initial cost of €6,252,000 and a net book value at 31 March 2012 of €4,976,000 which 
has been accounted for as a finance lease under the terms of the sale and leaseback agreement entered into in the year. See note 24. 

Available for sale investments –

Accsys Technologies PLC has previously purchased a total of 21,666,734 unlisted ordinary shares in Diamond Wood China. The Group does not 
currently have an intention to dispose of its investment in Diamond Wood in the foreseeable future. 

The carrying value of the investment is carried at cost less any provision for impairment, rather than at its fair value, as there is no active 
market for these shares, and there is significant uncertainty over the potential fundraising efforts of Diamond Wood, and as such a reliable fair 
value cannot be calculated.

The historical cost of the unlisted shares held at 31 March 2012 is €10m (2011: €10m). However, a provision for the impairment of the entire 
balance of €10m continues to be recorded, as at 31 March 2012 the conclusion of Diamond Wood finalising its funding arrangements was still 
pending. In the event Diamond Wood completes the fund-raising, the balance may be re-valued. 
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The Group has a deferred tax asset of €1,522,000 (2011: €2,095,000) relating to trading losses brought forward. The deferred tax asset has 
been recognised on the basis that trading profits are expected to be recorded in the related legal entities in the foreseeable future. These 
expected trading profits are attributable to the production of Accoya® wood and the recharge of research and development activities to other 
group companies.

The Group also has an unrecognised deferred tax asset of €18,983,000 (2011: €18,306,000) which is largely in respect of trading losses of the 
UK subsidiary. The deferred tax asset has not been recognised due to the uncertainty of the timing of future expected profits of the related 
legal entity attributable to licensing activities. 

Movements in recognised deferred tax asset: 

Opening balance 2,644

Recognition of deferred tax asset –

Derecognition of deferred tax asset –

Utilisation of deferred tax asset (549)

Closing balance 2,095

A list of subsidiary investments, including the name, country of incorporation and proportion of ownership interest is given in note 4 to the 
Company’s separate financial statements. 

Materials and work in progress 4,014

Finished goods 4,406

8,420

The amount of inventories recognised as an expense during the year was €12,585,942 (2011: €11,716,000). The cost of inventories recognised 
as an expense includes €843,000 (2011: €nil) in respect of the write down of inventories to net realisable value. 

The 2011 balances for materials and work in progress and finished goods have been reclassified to more accurately represent the allocation of 
the provision for old or impaired inventory balances. The total inventory balance for 2011 has not changed. 

Trade receivables 3,531

Other receivables 159

Prepayments 5,899

9,589

The 2011 prepayments balance included €5,402,000 in respect of prepaid commission costs relating to the Al Rajhi licence agreement. The 
balance has been fully impaired during the current year resulting in a net statement of comprehensive income charge of €2,852,000 after 
taking account of the release of the associated deferred income balance. (See note 6). 

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables is approximately equal to their fair value. 
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The age of receivables past due but not impaired is as follows: 

Up to 30 days overdue 287

Over 30 days and up to 60 days overdue 243

Over 60 days and up to 90 days overdue –

Over 90 days overdue 899

1,429

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable the Group considers any change in the credit quality of the trade receivables from the 
date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date. Included in the provision for doubtful debts are individually impaired trade receivables 
and accrued income with a balance of €25,001,000 (2011: €25,572,000) due from Diamond Wood (see Note 6). 

Movement in provision for doubtful debts: 

Balance at the beginning of the period 26,188

(Release of impairment)/impairment recognised (418)

Balance at the end of the period 25,770

Summary of receivable impairments: 

Trade receivables – Accoya® wood * (24)

Trade receivables – Diamond Wood Licensing** (394)

Prepayments – Al Rahji*** –

(418)

*  The impairment of Accoya® wood receivables relates to a number of Accoya® customers.

**  The previous impairment of Diamond Wood trade receivables in 2010 was partially reversed in 2011 and in 2012.

***  The impairment of prepaid commission costs relates to the Al Rajhi licence agreement – this was partially offset by the release of deferred income - see note 6.

Trade payables 2,092

Other taxes and social security payable 192

Accruals and deferred income 4,033

6,317

The 2011 accruals and deferred income balance included €2,550,000 in respect of the Al Rajhi licence agreement. The balance has been fully 
released during the current year resulting in a net statement of comprehensive income charge of €2,852,000 after taking account of the 
release of the associated impairment of prepaid licence commission costs. (See note 6). 
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Allotted – Equity share capital

404,016,642 (2011: 403,102,528) Ordinary shares of €0.01 each 4,031

4,031

On 22 February 2011, following the publication of a prospectus for the Firm Placing and Placing and Open Offer, the Company issued 
200,000,000 new Ordinary shares for €0.15 each. Proceeds of €28,061,000 were received net of expenses of €1,939,000. At the same time, 
2,500,000 new Ordinary shares were issued to an Employee Benefit Trust, the beneficiaries of which were to be the Executive Directors and 
Senior Managers (see note 13). 

On 2 August 2011, a total of 783,283 of Ordinary shares were issued to a trust under the terms the Employee Share Participation Plan. (See 
note 13). 

On 23 January 2012, a total of 130,831 Ordinary shares were issued to a trust under the terms of the Employee Share Participation Plan. (See 
note 13). 

The Group leases land, buildings and machinery under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The total future value of the minimum 
lease payments that are due is as follows: 

Operating lease payments due

Within one year 544

In the second to fifth years inclusive 1,637

In greater than five years –

2,181

The majority of commitments under operating leases relate to the Group’s offices in the UK, the Netherlands and U.S.A. 

Agreements were reached in August 2011 for the sale and leaseback of the land and buildings in Arnhem for a total of €4m. €2.2m was 
received in the financial year with the remaining amount to be received within the next financial year. Subject to the terms of the agreement, 
the buyer has committed to build new storage facilities which will also allow for an improvement in wood handling logistics. The transaction has 
resulted in a finance lease creditor of €2.2m as at 31 March 2012: 

payments

Amounts payable under finance leases:

Within one year –

In the second to fifth years inclusive –

After five years –

Less: future finance charges –

Present value of lease obligations –
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minimum lease
payments

Amounts payable under finance leases:

Within one year –

In the second to fifth years inclusive –

After five years –

Present value of lease obligations –

FINANCE LEASE
Agreements were reached in August 2011 for the sale and leaseback of the land and buildings in Arnhem under which a total of €4m will be 
received. €2.2m was received in the period with the remaining amount to be received within the next financial year. Subject to the terms of the 
agreement, the buyer has committed to build new storage facilities which will also allow for an improvement in wood handling logistics. The 
transaction has resulted in a finance lease creditor of €2.2m as at 31 March 2012. The total lease term is 15 years. (See note 24). 

EQUITY LINE OF CREDIT AND WARRANTS
The Company’s equity line of credit with GEM Global Yield Fund Limited for up to €20m expired on 30 March 2012. The three year agreement, 
which allowed the Company to issue shares at a price per share which represents a 10% discount to the average closing price over a 15 day 
period prior to the draw down. Each draw down was based on the share price over a 15 day period, with GEM having the option to subscribe for 
between 50% and 200% of the number of shares requested by the Company. 

The Company also issued 3,000,000 warrants to GEM and 120,000 warrants to Montrose Partners LLP on 30 June 2009, and the warrants were 
exercisable for a period of three years from the issue date at an exercise price of €1.00 each as adjusted following the Firm Placing and Placing 
and Open Offer in the previous financial year.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to 
shareholders. 

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to equity holders of the parent Company, 
comprising share capital, reserves and retained earnings. 

The Board reviews the capital structure on a regular basis. As part of that review, the Board considers the cost of capital and the risks 
associated with each class of capital. Based on the review, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through new share issues and the 
raising of debt if required. 

No final dividend is proposed in 2012 (2011 final dividend: €Nil). The Board deems it prudent for the Company to protect as strong a statement 
of financial position as possible during the current phase of the Company’s growth strategy.
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CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
2011
€’000

Available for Sale investments –

Loans and receivables

Trade receivables 3,531

Other receivables 159

Money market deposits in Euro 26,000

Money at call in Euro 1,126

Money at call in US dollars 54

Money at call in Sterling 396

Liquidty fund in Euro –

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Trade payables (2,092)

Accruals (1,482)

Finance lease creditor –

27,692

Money market deposits have interest rates fixed for less than nine months at a weighted average rate of 1.09% (2011: 0.40%). Money market 
deposits are held at financial institutions with high credit ratings (Standard & Poor’s rating of AA). 

Trade payables are payable on various terms, typically not longer than 30 days. 

MARKET RISK
The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. There is also a 
risk associated with the available for sale investment. 

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
The Group’s treasury policy is structured to ensure that adequate financial resources are available for the development of its business whilst 
managing its currency, interest rate and counterparty credit risks. The Group’s treasury strategy and policy are developed centrally and 
approved by the Board.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK MANAGEMENT
Currency exposures are limited as the Group’s functional currency is the Euro with the majority of operating costs and balances denominated 
in Euros. A smaller proportion of expenditure is incurred in US dollars and pounds sterling. In addition some raw materials, while priced in Euros, 
are sourced from countries which are not within the Eurozone. The Group monitors any potential underlying exposure to other exchange rates. 

INTEREST RATE RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group’s borrowings are limited to the sale and leaseback of the Arnhem land and buildings and therefore it is not exposed to interest rate 
risk in relation to financial liabilities. Surplus funds are invested in short term interest rate deposits to reduce exposure to changes in interest 
rates. The Group does not enter into any hedging arrangements. 

CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group is exposed to credit risk due to its trade receivables due from customers and cash deposits with financial institutions. The Group’s 
exposure to credit risk is limited to their carrying amount recognised at the balance sheet date. 

The Group ensures that sales are made to customers with an appropriate credit history to reduce the risk where this is considered necessary. 
The Directors consider the trade receivables at year end to be of good credit quality including those that are past due (note 20). The Group 
is not exposed to any significant credit risk exposure in respect of any single counterparty or any group of counterparties with similar 
characteristics other than the balances which are provided for as described in notes 6 and 20. 

The Group has credit risk from financial institutions. Cash deposits are placed with a group of financial institutions with suitable credit ratings in 
order to manage credit risk with any one financial institution.

LIQUIDITY RISK MANAGEMENT
Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board, which has built an appropriate liquidity risk management framework 
for the management of the Group’s short, medium and long term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Group manages liquidity 
risk by maintaining adequate reserves and banking facilities by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the 
maturity profile of financial assets and liabilities. 

In addition to the sale and leaseback of the Arnhem land and buildings described above, the Group entered new finance facilities secured on 
trade receivables and inventories: 
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TRADE RECEIVABLES FACILITY 
On 28 February 2011 the Group entered a trade receivable financing and credit management agreement with Fortis Commercial Banking 
for a period of at least two years from the closing date and with a facility limit of €1.5m. After two years the agreement will be tacitly 
renewed for a rolling one year period. The facility is secured upon the Group’s trade receivable. At 31 March 2012, €nil had been drawn 
down under the agreement. 

INVENTORIES FACILITY 
On 18 February 2011 the Group entered a credit facility agreement with ABN AMRO Bank N.V. with a facility limit of €3.0m for the 
financing of the Group’s operating activities. The facility is secured against the inventories of the Group. 

Both facilities are subject to interest at 2% above the ABN AMRO base rate (4.45% as at 31 March 2012). At 31 March 2012, the Group had €nil 
(2011: €nil) borrowed under either of the facilities. 

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
In the opinion of the Directors, there is no material difference between the book value and the fair value of all financial assets and financial 
liabilities. 

There were no related party transactions in the year ended 31 March 2012. 

Mr William Paterson-Brown is a director of Khalidiya Investments SA. During the year ended 31 March 2011 the Group recorded total expenses 
of €288,381 from Khalidiya Investments SA consisting of €213,534 in respect of directors services, €5,346 in respect of expenses for a 
number of employees, and €69,501 in respect of office staff and related costs in Geneva. During the prior year the Group recorded revenue of 
€7,426.88 in respect of sales of Accoya® to Mr William Paterson-Brown. 

Contracted but not provided for 190



58

Accsys Technologies PLC Annual Report and Financial Statements – Year ended 31 March 2012 | Company Independent Auditor’s Report

Company Independent Auditor’s Report

We have audited the parent company financial statements of Accsys Technologies PLC for the year ended 31 March 2012 which comprise the 
Company balance sheet and the related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law 
and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ responsibilities, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the parent company 
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the 
parent company financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those 
standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 
16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other 
purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior 
consent in writing. 

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance 
that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether 
the accounting policies are appropriate to the parent company’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; 
the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. In 
addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Accsys Technologies PLC Annual Report and Financial Statements 
to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or 
inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report. 

In our opinion the parent company financial statements:

give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 March 2012; 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

IN OUR OPINION:
the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006; and

the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the parent company financial statements are prepared is 
consistent with the parent company financial statements. 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from 
branches not visited by us; or

the parent company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement with the 
accounting records and returns; or

certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

We have reported separately on the group financial statements of Accsys Technologies PLC for the year ended 31 March 2012. 

Simon O’Brien (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London

9 July 2012 
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Company Balance Sheet
as at 31 March 2012

Registered Company 05534340 

Note 2011
€’000

Investments in subsidiaries 4 8,942

Other investments 5 –

8,942

Current assets

Debtors 6 99,308

Cash at bank and in hand 27,019

126,327

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 7 4,039

Net current assets 122,288

Total assets less current liabilities 131,230

Share capital 8 4,031

Share premium account 9 124,809

Own shares 9 (25)

Capital redemption reserve 9 148

Warrant reserve 9 82

Profit and loss account 9 2,185

10 131,230

The financial statements were approved by the Board and authorised for issue on 9 July 2012 

Paul Clegg
Hans Pauli

Directors

The notes on pages 60 to 63 form part of these financial statements. 
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Notes to the Company financial statements

for the year ended 31 March 2012

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and in accordance with United Kingdom applicable 
accounting standards. The following principal accounting policies have been applied: 

INVESTMENTS
Except where a reliable fair value cannot be obtained, unlisted shares held by the group are classified as available for sale investments and 
are stated at fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised directly in equity, with the exception of impairment 
losses which are recognised directly in profit or loss. Where investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or 
loss previously recognised in the profit or loss in the year. Where it is not possible to obtain a reliable fair value, these investments are held at 
cost less provision for impairment. 

SHARE BASED PAYMENTS
When the parent entity grants options over equity instruments directly to the employees of a subsidiary undertaking, then in the parent 
company financial statements the effect of the share based payment, as calculated in accordance with FRS 20, is capitalised as part of the 
investment in the subsidiary as a capital contribution, with a corresponding increase in equity.

The fair value of the options granted is measured using a modified Black Scholes model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon 
which the options were granted. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options that vest only 
where vesting is dependent upon the satisfaction of service and non-market vesting conditions. 

Non-market vesting conditions are taken into account by adjusting the number of equity instruments expected to vest at each balance sheet 
date so that, ultimately, the cumulative amount recognised over the vesting period is based on the number of options which eventually vest. 
Market vesting conditions are factored into the fair value of the options granted. The cumulative expense is not adjusted for failure to achieve 
a market vesting condition. 

DEFERRED TAXATION
Deferred taxation is provided in full in respect of taxation deferred by timing differences between the treatment of certain items for taxation 
and accounting purposes except for deferred tax assets which are only recognised to the extent that the Company anticipates making 
sufficient taxable profits in the future to absorb the reversal of the underlying timing differences. Deferred tax balances are not discounted. 

DIVIDENDS
Equity dividends are recognised when they become legally payable. Interim equity dividends are recognised when paid. Final equity dividends 
are recognised when approved by the shareholders at an annual general meeting. 

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The Company has taken advantage of the exemption available under FRS 8, “Related Party Disclosure”, not to disclose transactions between 
Group companies on the grounds that 100% of the voting rights are controlled within that Group and that Company is included in the 
consolidated financial statements. 

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
The Company has taken advantage of the exemption in FRS 1, “Cash flow Statement”, and has not produced a cash flow statement as it is a 
member of a group which prepares a consolidated cash flow statement. 

A loss of €676,000 (2011: loss of €764,000) is dealt with in the company financial statements of Accsys Technologies PLC. The Directors 
have taken advantage of the exemption available under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and not presented a profit and loss account 
for the Company above. Audit fees payable to the Group’s auditors were €61,000 (2011: €60,000) and non audit fees payable were €28,000 
(2011: €127,000) including in 2011, €87,000 payable for corporate finance services relating to the issuance of a prospectus for the issue of new 
ordinary shares in February 2011. 

The Company had no employees other than Executive Directors during the current or prior year. Non-executive directors received emoluments 
in respect of their services to the Company of €170,000 (2011: €122,000). The Company did not operate any pension schemes during the 
current or preceding year. 
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Cost

At 31 March 2011 13,622

Share based payments 348

At 31 March 2012 13,970

Impairment

At 1 April 2011 and 31 March 2012 4,680

At 31 March 2012 9,290

At 31 March 2011 8,942

The following were the principal subsidiary undertakings at the end of the year and have all been included in the financial statements:

% shares

rights

2011
% shares

and voting
rights

Subsidiary undertakings Class held held

Titan Wood Technology BV Ordinary 100

Titan Wood BV Ordinary 100

Titan Wood Limited Ordinary 100

Titan Wood Inc Ordinary 100

The shares in Titan Wood BV and Titan Wood Inc are held indirectly by the Company.

The principal activities of these companies were as follows:

Titan Wood Technology B.V. The provision of technical and engineering services to licensees, and the technical development of fibre 
board opportunities.

Titan Wood B.V. The manufacture and sale of Accoya®, acetylated wood.

Titan Wood Inc. Provision of Sales, Marketing and Technical services.

Titan Wood Limited Establishing global market penetration of Accoya® and Tricoya® as the premium wood and wood 
elements brands respectively for external applications requiring durabily, stability and reliability 
through the licensing of the Group’s proprietary process for wood acetylation.

2011
€’000

Unlisted securities available for resale –

Accsys Technologies PLC has previously purchased a total of 21,666,734 unlisted ordinary shares in Diamond Wood China. The Company does 
not currently have an intention to dispose of its investment in Diamond Wood in the foreseeable future. 

The carrying value of the investment is carried at cost less any provision for impairment, rather than at its fair value, as there is no active 
market for these shares, and there is significant uncertainty over the potential fundraising efforts of Diamond Wood, and as such a reliable fair 
value cannot be calculated.

The historical cost of the unlisted shares held at 31 March 2012 is €10m (2011: €10m). However, a provision for the impairment of the entire 
balance of €10m continues to be recorded, as at 31 March 2012 the conclusion of Diamond Wood finalising its funding arrangements was still 
pending. In the event Diamond Wood completes the fund-raising, the balance may be re-valued. 
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Notes to the Company financial statements continued

for the year ended 31 March 2012

2011

€’000

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings 99,155

Prepayments and accrued income 153

99,308

The amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings are payable on demand, however the Company has indicated it has no intention of demanding 
payment within the next twelve months. The Directors have considered the recoverability of the balances, taking into account the net assets 
as well as the long term expected performance of the subsidiaries and do not consider that any impairment is currently required. However, a 
degree of risk remains over the carrying value given the relative uncertainty of the future results. 

2011

€’000

Trade creditors 238

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 3,448

Accruals and deferred income 353

4,039

2011

€’000

404,016,642 (2011: 403,102,528) Ordinary shares of €0.01 each 4,031

4,031

On 22 February 2011, following the publication of a prospectus for the Firm Placing and Placing and Open Offer, the Company issued 
200,000,000 new Ordinary shares for €0.15 each. Proceeds of €28,061,000 were received net of expenses of €1,939,000. At the same time, 
2,500,000 new Ordinary shares were issued to an Employee Benefit Trust, the beneficiaries of which were to be the Executive Directors and 
Senior Managers (see note 13 of the consolidated financial statements). 

On 2 August 2011, a total of 783,283 of Ordinary shares were issued to a trust under the terms the Employee Share Participation Plan. (see 
note 13 of the Group financial statements). 

On 23 January 2012, a total of 130,831 Ordinary shares were issued to a trust under the terms of the Employee Share Participation Plan. (see 
note 13 of the consolidated financial statements). 

Share
capital

Ordinary
Share

premium

Capital
redemption

Reserve
Own

Shares
Warrant
Reserve

Profit and
loss

account Total
€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

4,031 124,809 148 (25) 82 2,185 131,230

Total comprehensive income 
for the period – – – – – (676) (676)

Share based payments – – – – – 348 348

Shares issued 9 – – 25 – – 34

Premium on shares issued – 78 – – – – 78

Share issue costs – – – – – – –

4,040 124,887 148 – 82 1,857 131,014

The profit and loss account includes €8,010,000 of non-distributable reserves arising from the liquidation of Accsys Chemicals PLC in the year 
ended 31 March 2007. The profit and loss account also includes €2,789,000 of non-distributable reserves relating to share based payments. 
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2011

€’000

Loss for the financial year (764)

Share based payments charged to subsidiaries 174

Proceeds from issue of shares 30,000

Share issue costs (1,939)

Net (decrease)/increase in shareholders’ funds 27,471

Opening shareholders’ funds 103,759

Closing shareholders’ funds 131,230

2011

€’000

Final Dividend €Nil (2011: €Nil) per Ordinary share proposed and paid during year relating to the previous 
year’s results –

The Company has an unrecognised deferred tax asset of €602,000 (2011: €476,000) which is largely in respect of trading losses. The deferred 
tax asset has not been recognised due to the uncertainty of the timing of future expected profits of the fellow subsidiary (in which the 
Company is in the same tax group) attributable to licensing activities. 
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